

Framing the International Criminal Court: A Frame Analysis of South African Media and its Relationship with the International Criminal Court

Master's Program in International Relations

Department of Politics and Society

Master's Thesis

Aalborg, 2025

Lindsay Ray Nielsen Student Number: 20230559 Keystrokes: 149,502 Citation Style: MLA

Supervisor: Anita Nissen

Abstract

This research will explore the framing of the legitimacy of the International Criminal Court (ICC) in South African media between 2002 and 2025. This study employs a qualitative case study using Entman's framing and draws on constructivism, legitimacy theory, and neo-colonialism. Following the end of apartheid, South Africa positioned itself as an early supporter of the ICC, but this position was challenged as political, legal, and global challenges emerged. This study reflects changing perceptions of the ICC in South African media and how issues of bias and selective justice contributed to the contestation of its legitimacy.

Contents

Abstract
List of Abbreviations:
1. Introduction5
1.1 Context and Problem Statement5
1.2 Research Question
2. Background
2.1 The International Criminal Court (ICC)8
2.2 South Africa, the African Union, and the Rome Statute:
2.3 The Al-Bashir Incident12
2.4 The Attempted ICC Withdrawal13
2.5 Reversal and Skeptical Re-engagement14
3. Literature Review
3.1 Context and Gaps in the Literature
3.2 The ICC and African States
3.3 The African Union and the ICC: Selective Justice and Sovereignty
3.4 South Africa and the ICC
3.5 Identified Gaps in the Literature
4. Theoretical Framework
4.1. Constructivism as a Theory
4.2 Legitimacy Theory22
4.3. Neo-colonialism as a Framework25
4.4 Operationalization of Theories27
5. Methodology
5.1. Constructivism: A Qualitative Case Study28
5.2. Research Design:
5.3 Method: Frame Analysis29
5.4. Data Collection and Sampling Strategy30
6. Analysis
6.1 2002-2007: Commitment to International Justice?
6.2 2008-2013: Increasing Tensions
6.3 2014-2019: Constitutional Crisis and Increasing Tensions42
6.4 2020-2025: Continuing Crisis and Cautious Re-engagement
6.5 Summary of Findings53
7. Conclusion
8. Bibliography

List of Abbreviations:

ANC African National Congress

AU African Union

BRICS Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa

ICJ International Court of Justice
ICC International Criminal Court
NGO Non-Governmental Organization

UN United Nations

UNGA United Nations General Assembly
UNSC United Nations Security Council

SA South Africa

LRA Lord's Resistance Army

US United States

1. Introduction

1.1 Context and Problem Statement

The International Criminal Court (ICC) represents one of the most ambitious efforts in the post-Cold War era to establish global governance. The ICC is a permanent legal body tasked with prosecuting individuals for international crimes, including genocide, crimes against humanity, and war crimes (International Criminal Court, "About the Court", 2024). The creation of the Court signified a step forward in the fight against impunity, but the authority of the Court has not been without challenge. Like other global institutions, the ICC depends on legal frameworks and formal agreements amongst states. However, it is also dependent upon perceptions of legitimacy and impartiality. Its ability to effectively operate depends on how it is viewed by states, political leaders, and the public. Questions about the ICC's legitimacy - who grants it, how it is upheld, and under what conditions it is challenged - have consistently led to debates about its role and its influence.

South Africa's relationship with the ICC is a useful and relevant case for exploring issues of legitimacy and how that legitimacy has been constructed and contested over time. South Africa, under the leadership of Nelson Mandela, was one of the earliest supporters of the Rome Statute and the ICC. Following the Rwandan Genocide in 1994, the civil war in Sierra Leone from 1991 to 2002, and its own battle with Apartheid from 1948 to 1994, South Africa saw the ICC as a tool to be used to prevent future atrocities from being committed ("South Africa | International Criminal Court"). When South Africa signed onto the Rome Statute and joined the ICC in 2000, the Parliament integrated its conditions into South African law under a bill called the "Implementation of the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court Act 27" making it the first African state to align the laws of its state with international law concerning such crimes (Plessis, 2003). At the same time, the African Union (AU), which itself was in its infancy having only been established in 2001, was also a strong proponent of the ICC with one of its objectives focused on the protection of human rights (Magliveras and Naldi, 2002). This level of support was sustained for several years, but as the tally of ICC cases originating in Africa grew, South Africa began to voice skepticism related to a perceived bias towards the African continent (Pugliese and Mbaku, 2013).

A turning point in the relationship between South Africa and the ICC came in 2015, during the African Union Summit, which was held in Johannesburg, South Africa when Sudanese President Omar Al-Bashir attended while an active warrant for his arrest by the ICC was in place ("Court Criticised over "Al-Bashir" Judgment." de Rebus, August 2015:5 [2015] DEREBUS 124", 2015). As

a signatory to the Rome Statute, South Africa was obligated to act on this warrant, arrest Al-Bashir, and turn him over to the ICC. However, South Africa allowed him to leave the country without acting on the warrant, leading to not only a domestic crisis, but an international one as well, thus marking a dramatic shift in South Africa's relationship with the ICC from active supporter to a vocal critic (Jeangène Vilmer, 2016).

Following this incident, South Africa's criticism of the ICC increased as the country entered a period of disagreement between the sitting government heads, led by President Zuma, and the Parliament, under the leadership of President Zuma's party. This was due largely in part to Zuma's formal notification to the UNSG of its intention to withdraw from the Rome Statute in 2016, and thus from the ICC, arguing that the Court unfairly targeted African leaders and operated as a neocolonial institution (International Criminal Court, "Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court", 1998). This withdrawal was quickly challenged in South African courts and found to be unconstitutional, as Parliamentary approval had not been sought nor granted forcing South Africa to revoke its withdrawal and remain a member of the ICC (Werle and Zimmermann, 2019). Criticism of the Court continued, but in recent years the country has again changed its stance on the Court and has cautiously re-engaged by seeking a more equitable and inclusive balance. This shift has come as the Court has expanded its investigations beyond Africa, including inquiries into countries such as Israel and Russia. The ICC's decision to issue an arrest warrant for Russian President Vladimir Putin in March 2023 - the leader of one of South Africa's partners within the BRICS alliance has introduced new tensions into the relationship between the ICC and South Africa ("South Africa Moves to Quit ICC over Putin Arrest Warrant — Then Backs Down", 2023). Despite these tensions, South Africa has continued to engage with the ICC, even in collaboration with other states, by advocating for reform and a more balanced approach.

South Africa's relationship with the ICC has been shaped not only by legal and foreign policy decisions, but also by how the Court is talked about and understood within the country. From early support and enthusiastic endorsement to sharp criticism, an attempted withdrawal, and now a phase of cautious re-engagement, South Africa's stance has evolved in response to domestic political shifts and broader debates about global governance, particularly as it regards the legitimacy of the Court. Throughout the years, debates surrounding the Court's legitimacy and its perceived colonial undertones have been discussed in media coverage, playing a role in the shaping of public and political attitudes. With that in mind this research aims to explore how shifting media portrayals have shaped perceptions of the ICC's legitimacy in South Africa over time, setting the stage for the central question this study seeks to answer.

1.2 Research Question

This study seeks to examine how the legitimacy of the ICC is constructed and challenged in the South African media narratives. The main research question is: How is the legitimacy of the ICC created and challenged in South African media over time? As mentioned, the relationship between South Africa and the ICC has been in flux moving from strong support for its creation, to criticism and attempted withdrawal, to a new era of re-engagement.

To address this query, the research will be driven by the sub-question; What frames have emerged from South African media? This will be achieved by analyzing the frames in South African media regarding the ICC by studying four distinct time periods. The selected time periods cover four six-year intervals beginning with (1) 2002 to 2007 representing the South Africa's initial commitment to the ICC and the domestic legal integration of the Rome Statute, (2) 2008 to 2013 representing a period of emerging tensions and regional friction, and (3) 2014 to 2019 reflecting South Africa's attempt to withdrawal from the ICC and domestic legal contestation over this attempt, and (4) 2020 to 2025 representing a period of strategic re-engagement with persistent critique of the institution. This will be used to identify frames that have shaped the legitimacy of the ICC in South Africa. By approaching the framing of legitimacy and how it is socially constructed, this study will analyze the views of South African media on the ICC, taking into consideration the country's history of colonialism and the challenges that have followed in the post-colonial era. By tracing the narrative revolving around the ICC, this study will provide insight into how the perception of legitimacy has ebbed and flowed.

1.3 Research Significance

This study will offer an important contribution to ongoing debates about the legitimacy of global governance institutions, particularly the ICC, by focusing on how legitimacy is constructed and contested. As South Africa was one of the earliest African supporters of the ICC and later one of its most outspoken critics, this study will provide a lens in which to examine the shift over time in its perception of the institution.

2. Background

The following chapter provides essential background for understanding both the history of the International Criminal Court and the history of South Africa since it became a member of the Court. It first outlines the structure of the ICC, its mandate, and its jurisdiction, which provides the foundation for the later analysis of legitimacy. It then traces South Africa's engagement with the ICC, from its early commitment to moments of tension, attempted withdrawal, and more

recently its re-engagement. While this chapter provides necessary historical context, further background specific to each period will be provided in the analysis chapter to situate the frames.

2.1 The International Criminal Court (ICC)

The International Criminal Court (ICC) is a permanent court established to 'investigate, prosecute, and try individuals accused' of the crime of genocide, crimes against humanity, war crimes, and the crime of aggression, as amended in 2010 (International Criminal Court, 2024). The ICC was established under the Rome Statute, on 17 July 1988 and entered into force on 1 July 2002, which serves as an International Treaty to establish the framework of the Court and sets its jurisdiction as permanent and universal (International Criminal Court, "Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court", 1998). The ICC is a court of last resort, located in The Hague, Netherlands though it can be seated in other locations, and can only step in when national courts are unable or unwilling to investigate. Therefore, the ICC relies on the compliance of signatory states to fulfill its purpose of putting an end to 'impunity for the perpetrators of the most serious crimes of concern to the international community as whole, and thus to contribute to the prevention of such crimes' (International Criminal Court). It is important to note that the ICC cannot supersede the national judicial systems of States Parties but instead operates on the principle of complementarity. This means that the judicial system of the state will always be provided with the opportunity to launch its own investigations into matters of International Criminal Law which affect their territory or their citizens. The ICC is only able to step in and launch an investigation of its own when the signatory has proven itself unwilling or incapable of such an investigation (Plessis, 2003).

The ICC is composed of four main parts, which includes the Office of the Prosecutor (OTP), the Presidency, the Judicial Divisions, and the Registry. Within the ICC, the OTP operates as an independent part of the Court that is given the power to initiate investigations, known as proprio motu investigations, once legal authorization from the judges is received. This position was first held by Luis Moreno Ocampo from Argentina, then by Fatou Bensouda from Gambia, and is currently held by Karim A. A. Khan KC from the United Kingdom ("Office of the Prosecutor", 2025). The OTP is divided into three sections: The Prosecutor, the Deputy Prosecutor, and The Head of the Jurisdiction, Complementarity, and Cooperation Division. For a case to be taken up by the ICC, the OTP must analyze the information on the crime to determine if it meets jurisdictional requirements. Once this decision has been made, the OTP applies to the Pre-Trial Chamber for a summons or an arrest warrant and from there the case begins (International Criminal Court Project, 2019).

The Presidency is made up of a Presidency, a first Vice President, and a second Vice President, which are elected by "an absolute majority" of the Judges of the Court for a term of three years, which may be renewed. Their responsibilities include legal functions and relations outside of the court. This ranges from assigning judges to cases, judicial review of decisions made by the Registrar, maintaining relationships with States, and promoting public awareness (International Criminal Court Project, 2019).

The Judicial Division, also referred to as The Chambers, consists of eighteen judges organized into three sections: Pre-Trial, Trial, and Appeals. Within the chambers there is a further division of the judges and for each pre-trial and trial case a group of three judges is responsible for each case. However, if a case reaches the Appeals Division all five judges must preside over the case (International Criminal Court Project, 2019).

The fourth part of the ICC, the Registry, is responsible for providing judicial and administrative support to all parts of the Court. This includes victims and witnesses, as well as focusing on outreach and detention. This department is headed by the Registrar who oversees the offices and sections responsible for providing support to the tasks of the Court.

Additionally, the Assembly of State Parties (ASP) and the Trust Fund for Victims also make up part of the Court. The ASP serves as the "management, oversight, and legislative body of the Court" and is outlined in Article 112 of the Rome Statute. The ASP is made up of a representative from each signatory state under which a Bureau is established consisting of a President, two Vice Presidents, and eighteen members elected by the Assembly for a three-year term. This body ensures that cases are distributed equally across geographic areas and that the Court provides adequate representation of the main legal systems across the world. The ASP also takes up issues such as non-compliance by signatory states and though it cannot force states to comply it can engage in diplomatic processes to resolve the non-compliance and as a last resort it may refer matters to the UNSC ("ICC - Assembly of States Parties | International Criminal Court", 2024).

Given the structure of the ICC, there are three ways in which an investigation can be launched; first through referral by a state party also known as self-referral, second through proprio motu or the launching of an investigation by the court's prosecutor, and thirdly through referral by the United Nations Security Council (UNSC) in order to protect international peace and stability. The first two methods of bringing a case to the Court apply only if the accused individual is a national of a state that is party to the Rome Statute and has accepted the jurisdiction of the ICC. However,

a referral by the UNSC obliges even non-state parties to cooperate with the ICC (Jeangène Vilmer, 2016).

Since the establishment of the ICC in 2002, it has prosecuted cases against individuals accused of crimes of genocide, war crimes, and crimes against humanity in numerous countries. Ten of these cases have been on the African continent, two have been based in Europe, four in the Middle East and Asia, and two cases in Venezuela (van den Burg, 2024). Most recently, the ICC has increased the span of its investigation into Palestine and into Israel for crimes committed following the October 7 attacks by Hamas in 2023. Although some of these states are not signatory countries to the Rome Statute, the ICC has been able to launch these investigations based on Territorial Jurisdiction, specifically in the cases of Myanmar and Israel as the crimes committed crossed into countries that are signatories to the Rome Statute, covered under Article 12 (2) of the Rome Statute (International Criminal Court, "Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court", 1998). As of 2024, the ICC has eleven convictions and four acquittals with outstanding warrants for arrest levied against Russian President Vladimir Putin, Israeli Prime Minister Benjamin Netanyahu, Israel's former defense chief Yoav Gallant, and Hamas leader Ibrahim Al-Masri (van den Burg, 2024). Figure one provides an overview of the cases investigated by the ICC, highlighting the geographical focus on African states while detailing the method of referral for these cases, of which five were by self-referral, two were referred by the UNSC, and four were through the mechanism of proprio motu where the country was unable or unwilling to launch an investigation of its own.

Country	Alleged Crime/Reason for Investigation	Method of Referral
Uganda	Atrocities committed by Lord's Resistance Army	Self-Referral by Ugandan Government
Democratic Republic of the Congo	Armed conflicts involving various militias	Self-Referral by DRC Government
Central African Republic	Crimes committed during an armed conflict (2002-2004)	Self-Referral by CAR Government
Sudan (Darfur)	Genocide and war crimes in Darfur during internal conflict (Janjaweed Militia)	Referral by the United Nations Security Council
Afghanistan	War Crimes by the Taliban, US forces, and Afghan Military	Proprio Motu Investigation by ICC Prosecutor
Georgia (Europe)	2008 war between Georgia and Russia	Proprio Motu Investigation by ICC Prosecutor
Kenya	2007-2008 post-election violence w/ crimes against humanity committed by political leaders and their supporters	Proprio Motu Investigation by ICC Prosecutor
Libya	Civil war and crimes against humanity during Muammar Gaddafi's Regime	Referral by the United Nations Security Council
Ivory Coast	Post-election violence following 2010 election w/ crimes against humanity by both gov and opposition forces	Proprio Motu Investigation by ICC Prosecutor
Mali	Armed conflict involving Islamist groups and destruction of cultural heritage in Timbuktu and war crimes	Self-Referral by the Malian Government
Central African Republic II (CARII)	Ethnic and sectarian violence between Seleka and Anti-Balaka militias	Self-Referral by the CAR Government
Burundi	Violence against political opponents w/ alleged crimes against humanity linked to political unrest in 2015	Proprio Motu Investigation by ICC Prosecutor
Myanmar/Bangladesh	Rohingya Genocide and Crimes Against Humanity - focused on Bangladesh which is an ICC member state	Proprio Motu Investigation by ICC Prosecutor
Venezuela	Crimes against humanity under Nicolás Maduro's regime	Proprio Motu Investigation by ICC Prosecutor
Palestine	Alleged war crimes in Gaza, West Bank, and East Jerusalem	Proprio Motu Investigation by ICC Prosecutor
Venezuela (II)	Alleged crimes linked to political unrest	Self-Referral by Venezuelan Government - Preliminary Examination Ongoing
Sudan (Situation #2)	War Crimes and Crimes Against Humanity in Conflict Zones Beyond Darfur - ongoing crimes after the removal of Omar al-Bashir	Proprio Motu Investigation by ICC Prosecutor
Philippines	Extrajudicial killings under Rodrigo Duterte's War on Drugs	Proprio Motu Investigation by ICC Prosecutor
Ukraine	Alleged war crimes during Russian Invasion	Proprio Motu Investigation by ICC Prosecutor + Multiple States Referred
	Uganda Democratic Republic of the Congo Central African Republic Sudan (Darfur) Afghanistan Georgia (Europe) Kenya Libya Ivory Coast Mali Central African Republic II (CARII) Burundi Myanmar/Bangladesh Venezuela Palestine Venezuela (II) Sudan (Situation #2) Philippines	Democratic Republic of the Congo Armed conflicts involving various militias Central African Republic Sudan (Darfur) Cencide and war crimes in Darfur during internal conflict (Janjaweed Militia) Afghanistan War Crimes by the Taliban, US forces, and Afghan Military Georgia (Europe) Zoos war between Georgia and Russia Kenya Zoo7-2008 post-election violence w/ crimes against humanity committed by political leaders and their supporters Libya Civil war and crimes against humanity during Muammar Gaddafi's Regime Ivory Coast Post-election violence following 2010 election w/ crimes against humanity by both gov and opposition forces Mali Armed conflict involving Islamist groups and destruction of cultural heritage in Timbuktu and war crimes Central African Republic II (CARII) Ethnic and sectarian violence between Seleka and Anti-Balaka militias Burundi Violence against political opponents w/ alleged crimes against humanity linked to political unrest in 2015 Myanmar/Bangladesh Robingya Genocide and Crimes Against Humanity - focused on Bangladesh which is an ICC member state Venezuela Crimes against humanity under Nicolás Maduro's regime Alleged war crimes in Gaza, West Bank, and East Jerusalem Venezuela (II) Alleged crimes linked to political unrest Sudan (Situation #2) War Crimes and Crimes Against Humanity in Conflict Zones Beyond Darfur - ongoing crimes after the removal of Omar al-Bashir Philippines

Figure 1: Case History of ICC

 ${\it ICC-(International\ Criminal\ Court,\ "Situations\ under\ Investigation")}$

2.2 South Africa, the African Union, and the Rome Statute:

Following the Rwandan Genocide in 1994, the African Union (AU) signaled its initial support for the ICC with the hope that it would prevent future genocides and crimes against humanity from being committed on the continent (Jalloh, 2019). With the support of the AU for an independent court, thirty-three African states signed onto the Rome Statute and ratified it in their parliamentary bodies while an additional thirteen African states became signatories to the Rome Statute but have not yet ratified the Statute into law. The African continent represents the largest number of signatories to the Rome Statute and therefore the ICC. However, it did not take long before criticism of the court began to echo throughout the Union, including accusations of the Court representing yet another European tool of colonialism and that the ardent support from African states left it vulnerable to the ICC's goal of establishing legitimacy by proving itself to the world as a productive court of law (Jalloh, 2019). Criticism of the Court by the AU increased

following the Courts' investigations into Sudan and Kenya and in 2017, the AU adopted the "ICC Withdrawal Strategy" which called for the withdrawal of states from the Court. Furthermore, this strategy depicted the ICC as a "racist, white man's court" that was focused too much on African states and not enough on other regions of the world (Magliveras, 2019). While not all members of the AU found this strategy appealing, it fueled a fire amongst African states who were already critical of the ICC and sparked the fire in South Africa which was dealing with its own situation with the Court.

2.3 The Al-Bashir Incident

The roots of South Africa's rejection and subsequent attempted withdrawal from the Rome Statute and the ICC can be found in the case brought against Sudan, specifically Sudanese President Omar Al-Bashir in 2005 (Jeangène Vilmer, 2016). President Al-Bashir was indicted for crimes against humanity and war crimes in 2009 and later for genocide in 2010, which led to protests against the ICC itself. These protests were based on the idea that the deployment of ICC investigations were examples of 'new colonization' and according to the then sitting chairperson of the African Union (AU), Muammar Gaddafi, as an 'attempt by [the West] to re-colonize their former colonies', and 'a practice of First World terrorism' (Jeangène Vilmer, 2016).

The African Union subsequently adopted a policy of non-cooperation with the ICC, which was further exacerbated when the ICC launched its first ever proprio motu investigation into Kenya in reference to alleged crimes committed surrounding the 2007-2008 elections. The initial launch of the investigation led to some disgruntlement amongst Kenyans, but it wasn't until the ICC turned its cases against politicians Uhuru Kenyatta and William Ruto, who had both been members of the Kenyan Ministry at the time the violence occurred, that the African Union began to express their view that the ICC represented a threat to 'the promotion of peace, national healing, and reconciliation', which led to the discussion of a mass withdrawal from the Rome Statute and the ICC. Although a mass withdrawal has not been carried out yet, it serves as a threat to be used each time the AU disagrees with actions taken by the ICC (Jeangène Vilmer, 2016).

With threats of withdrawal from the ICC looming throughout the African continent, the tension came to a head during the 25th African Union Summit in Johannesburg, South Africa in June 2015 when Omar Al-Bashir arrived. The arrival of Al-Bashir prompted a quick backlash against the South African President, Jacob Zuma, who in 2009 had publicly recognized the obligation to arrest Bashir as a signatory state of the Rome Statute given that the ICC does not maintain a police force to carry out such actions. Furthering the crisis, Zuma, in 2010 issued a joint communiqué with the European Union declaring that the ICC represented 'an important development for

international justice and a basis to advance peace' and later at the AU Summit in 2013 Pretoria 'urged other African countries not to leave the Rome Statute' (Jeangène Vilmer, 2016). All eyes were on the South African President and whether he would abide by the obligations as a Rome Statute signatory and arrest Al-Bashir. Instead, Zuma declared immunity for serving heads of state and allowed Al-Bashir to freely attend the summit.

Upon Bashir's arrival in South Africa, the Southern Africa Litigation Centre applied to the Gauteng Division, Pretoria, for his arrest, which led to a court order of the South African government to prevent him from leaving the country until the case had been heard. Additionally, the Department of Home Affairs was instructed to notify all points of entry and exit that Bashir was not allowed to leave the country. However, on June 15 Al-Bashir flew back to Sudan while the case was still being adjudicated. The court stated that under Articles 86 and 89 of the Rome Statute, South Africa was obliged to "cooperate fully with the court in its investigation and prosecution of crimes..." and "comply with requests for arrest and surrender" ("Court Criticised over "Al-Bashir" Judgment." de Rebus, August 2015:5 [2015] DEREBUS 124", 2015). Upon this dereliction of duty, the ICC's Pre-Trial Chamber then had to determine if South Africa's failure to comply required communication to the Assembly of States Parties (ASP) and to the UNSC for review and to determine whether measures should be adopted as a form of censure.

2.4 The Attempted ICC Withdrawal

The fallout from failing to arrest Al-Bashir led President Zuma to threaten to withdraw South Africa from the ICC, which was confirmed by his party, the African National Congress (ANC) in October 2015 and reiterated at the AU Summit in January 2016 (Jeangène Vilmer, 2016). The threat of withdrawal came to a head when on 19 October 2016, South Africa notified the United Nations Secretary General (UNSG) of its withdrawal from the Rome Statute and thus from the ICC. South Africa did so in a rush to beat Burundi in the race to withdrawal, skipping over the process of a parliamentary vote, and writing directly to the UNSG (Werle and Zimmermann, 2019). Controversy ensued, as this act directly violated the Constitution of South Africa.

After sending notification to the UNSG of South Africa's intention to withdraw from the Court, a one year waiting period began as is required by Article 127 of the Rome Statute (International Criminal Court, "Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court", 1998). During this one year waiting period, South Africa faced criticism from the ICC and from within, as the opposition party to the ANC, the Democratic Alliance (DA), challenged the constitutionality of the withdrawal. This was based upon the fact that the ANC failed to obtain legislative approval before submitting its notice of withdrawal to the UNSG and that the withdrawal from the ICC constituted a "substantive"

violation of the Bill of Rights" (Werle and Zimmermann, 2019). After being taken up by the High Court in South Africa, it was adjudicated that because Parliamentary approval was required to bind the Rome Statute to the state, that it was therefore required to gain that same approval to withdraw from the Rome Statute and the ICC. The Court thus ordered Zuma and his party to remove the "instrument of withdrawal", which it complied with in March 2017(Werle and Zimmermann, 2019). In addition to this court battle, Zuma also came under pressure to resign and calls for his impeachment ensued.

2.5 Reversal and Skeptical Re-engagement

After South Africa officially rescinded its intent to withdraw from the ICC and the Rome Statute, the nation entered a period of confusion and re-engagement. In February 2018, Cyril Ramaphosa was elected the next President of South Africa after the forced resignation of Jacob Zuma, under whom he served as Deputy President ("MPs Elect Cyril Ramaphosa as New South Africa President", 2018). Ramaphosa became President at a time of political upheaval promising to address issues of corruption and to champion South Africa as an invaluable member of the Global South but quickly ran into controversy; both personal and political ("Cyril Ramaphosa - South African Union Leader, Mine Boss, President", 2019). As a member of BRICS, South Africa economically aligns itself with nations such as Brazil, Russia, India, and China, which became a major source of controversy regarding the nation's membership within the ICC.

In April 2023, following the ICC's issuance of arrest warrants against Russian President Vladimir Putin for the invasion of Ukraine and the subsequent forced deportation of Ukrainian children, Ramaphosa made a comment stating "it is prudent that South Africa should pull out of the ICC" which his government quickly walked back stating, "that South Africa remains a signatory to the Rome Statute" ("South Africa Moves to Quit ICC over Putin Arrest Warrant — Then Backs Down", 2023). These statements led to confusion regarding whether or not South Africa would once again pursue withdrawal from the ICC, which was never truly 'off the table'. The issue came to a head when South Africa was set to host the BRICS summit in August 2023. An invitation to Putin was extended, which if accepted would place South Africa in a position like the one it found itself in in 2015 when Al-Bashir visited; obligated to execute the arrest warrant under the Rome Statute or face the consequences. Putin did not attend the meeting in person but rather sent Russian Foreign Minister Sergey Lavrov along with a pre-recorded video message (Imray and Magome, 2023). South Africa was able to avoid breaking the laws established by the Rome Statute and maintained its ties with its BRICS allies.

Signaling re-engagement with the ICC, South Africa, On 17 November 2023, along with other States, submitted a joint referral to the ICC regarding the situation in Palestine as it relates to Article 14 of the Rome Statute ("South Africa, along with Like-Minded States, Submits Joint Referral of the Situation in Palestine to the ICC – DIRCO", 2023). Article 14 allows for states that are signatories to the Rome Statute to request the Prosecutor to launch an investigation into a country in which one or more crimes within its jurisdiction have been committed with the purpose of determining who should be charged with the crimes (International Criminal Court, "Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court", 1998). Instead of allowing the claim that the ICC is biased to be perpetuated, South Africa is now using re-engagement as a tool to challenge the court's willingness to seek justice regardless of where crimes are committed.

Before presenting the findings of this study, it is important to examine the existing literature that has explored the ICC's relationship with African states, and South Africa in particular. By reviewing how scholars have explored questions of legitimacy, justice, and Africa's role in global institutions an essential foundation for the research will be presented. The literature reviewed in the following section highlights key literature on the ICC in Africa, debates surrounding its legitimacy, and the framing of its role within South African media contexts. This review also identifies gaps in the literature, particularly the need for a more focused, discursive analysis of how legitimacy is constructed over time.

3. Literature Review

The literature review aims to situate the study within existing debates on the ICC, African states, and South Africa's evolving relationship with the Court. This review focuses on identifying the theoretical and methodological lenses scholars have used to approach these issues and highlights how these perspectives have informed understandings of the tensions between Africa and the ICC while showing where gaps remain. It emphasizes that few studies have traced how South Africa's framing of the ICC has been constructed and contested over time through media narratives, which this research aims to address.

3.1 Context and Gaps in the Literature

The literature discussed in the following chapter provides a foundation for understanding the tensions between the ICC, the African Union, and South Africa, particularly through the themes of sovereignty, legitimacy, and the perception of selective justice. Scholars have debated the ICC's role in Africa, focusing on issues of bias, neo-colonial influence, and international law as much of the existing research analyzes legal arguments, state behavior, and political disagreements between institutions. However, few studies examine how South Africa's

perceptions of the ICC have been socially constructed over time through the analysis of media narratives. The literature rarely applies a framing approach that traces how the legitimacy of the ICC has been constructed and contested across different time periods. This study aims to address that gap by moving beyond legal accounts to explore the construction of meaning around the ICC in South Africa through media construction, legitimacy theories, and neocolonialism.

South Africa stands out in this debate because of its uniquely evolving relationship with the ICC. As one of the earliest supporters, resulting in the signature of and integration into its domestic law of the Rome Statute, South Africa later shifted toward criticism and an attempted withdrawal, before moving toward a cautious, yet critical re-engagement with the Court in recent years making it a valuable case for understanding how the legitimacy of international institutions is created, framed, and contested over time.

3.2 The ICC and African States

Since the ICC was founded in 2002, it has received both support and criticism from African states. Initially, the Court was welcomed by many African countries as a tool for ending impunity and delivering justice to victims, but this has given way to criticism and skepticism. Many scholars have examined how African states have come to view the ICC as disproportionately focused on the continent, raising concerns about the legitimacy of the Court, selective justice, and neo-colonial interference (Mills, 2012). These concerns have shaped the ways in which states engage with the Court and have led to resistance across the continent.

Scholars, like Kurt Mills and Manisuli Ssenyonjo have explored how African states' relationship with the Court evolved from initial support to growing skepticism, to many making attempts at withdrawal. Mills uses a critical lens to explore how perceptions of selective justice have shaped African resistance to the Court and argues that the ICC's early investigations disproportionately targeted African states (Mills, 2012). He explains that the initial support gave way to growing concern among African States as the Court opened investigations almost exclusively in Africa, which reinforced suspicions of Western bias and neo-colonial influence, despite occurrences of mass atrocities across the globe (Mills, 2012). Mills notes that the indictment of Sudanese President Omar al-Bashir was a turning point that solidified African perceptions that the ICC undermined sovereignty and threatened peace processes (Mills, 2012).

Ssenyonjo approaches the debate from a legal-institutional perspective by focusing on African withdrawals from the Court and more specifically on South Africa's stated reasons (Ssenyonjo, 2017). He argues that perceptions of bias come from the ICC and the UNSC's close relationship, where Africa is underrepresented, and three of the five permanent members are not signatories

to the Rome Statute (Ssenyonjo, 2017). Although there is acknowledgement of selective justice, Ssenyonjo also points out that most of the early African cases were self-referrals and that newer investigations in non-African countries suggest that the ICC is evolving (Ssenyonjo, 2017).

Mills and Ssenyonjo have highlighted how African states have expressed growing concern with the ICC as it relates to issues of selective justice and perceived bias, which has led to attempts to withdraw from the Institution. However, these concerns do not exist only at the state level but have been taken up at the institutional level by the African Union. The following section considers scholarly perspectives on the changing relationship between the AU and the ICC and its efforts to contest the Court's legitimacy.

3.3 The African Union and the ICC: Selective Justice and Sovereignty

Much of the existing scholarship on Africa's relationship with the ICC focuses on the African Union as a collective voice challenging the Court's legitimacy. This is important because South Africa's changing stance toward the ICC cannot be separated from its dual role as a member of both the ICC and the AU. Many of South Africa's moments of contestation, including its non-compliance during the Bashir incident and its attempted withdrawal occurred in the context of broader AU resistance. Therefore, it is important to understand the AU's evolving relationship with the ICC to situate South Africa's actions and how it has shaped the framing of the Court.

The relationship between the AU and the ICC has been a prominent focus of scholars such as Bachmann and Sowatey-Adji, Ekwealor, and Murithi. They have explored this relationship through the lenses of sovereignty, selective justice, and postcolonial resistance. The AU was an initial supporter of the ICC, but the AU's stance has shifted as tensions mounted over what many African states have perceived as the Court's disproportionate focus on the continent (Bachmann and Sowatey-Adjei, 2020). Bachmann and Sowatey-Adjei frame theses tensions through the principle of sovereignty, noting that the AU labeled the ICC a "neo-colonial court" following the referral of the situation in Darfur by the UNSC without consideration to the regional context (Bachmann and Sowatey-Adjei, 2020). They argue that the AU's request for a stay of the investigation was not just political, but an effort to protect regional ownership of peace processes, which is an important issue for member states of the AU, like South Africa which has had to balance their support for international institutions like the ICC with their loyalty to Africanled solutions (Bachmann and Sowatey-Adjei, 2020).

Ekwealor, expanding on concerns of sovereignty, emphasizes that the AU's view of the ICC as a biased institution comes not only from its case selection but also from the structural inequalities within the Court's funding and geopolitical alignments (Ekwealor, 2018). He notes that the ICC's

dependency on European funding and the influence of non-signatory members such as the U.S. and China have added fuel to African skepticism. For South Africa, a country that has positioned itself as a bridge between Africa and the global order, these critiques from the AU have created pressure for it to reconcile its obligations to the ICC with emerging pan-African solidarity narratives.

Murithi, writing from a postcolonial perspective, argues that the AU's criticism of the ICC is deeply tied to African political identity and resistance to external forms of justice (Murithi, 2013). He suggests that the AU's criticism of the ICC is about calling for African-led solutions rather than rejecting accountability, which is an important context for understanding South Africa's own tensions with the Court (Murithi, 2013). As a member of the AU, South Africa was caught between its international reputation as a defender of human rights and its regional commitment to solidarity with other African states that were challenging the ICC's authority specifically during the Bashir incident and its attempt to withdraw from the Court (Murithi, 2013).

Together, the works of these scholars indicate that the AU's relationship with the ICC has been shaped by questions of identity, sovereignty, and historical grievances, not just legal or political disagreements. For South Africa, balancing its membership with both the AU and the ICC has meant navigating competing pressures, which has influenced how it framed its actions at home and on the global stage.

3.4 South Africa and the ICC

The existing literature on the relationship between South Africa and the ICC is extensive, especially given its fluctuating relationship with the Court. Scholars like J. Andrew Grant and Spencer Hamilton, Jeremy Sarkin, Franziska Boehme, and Max Du Plessis have each provided important insights into how South Africa's position has evolved over time.

Grant and Hamilton approach South Africa's role through a constructivist lens, arguing that the country sought to position itself as a "norm leader" and aspiring "middle-power" by embracing international justice norms (Grant and Hamilton, 2016). South Africa's early commitment to international justice norms was demonstrated through its swift ratification of the Rome Statute and incorporation into its domestic law, which signified its dedication to human rights following apartheid (Grant and Hamilton, 2016). Even amidst pressure from the US to shield American citizens from ICC jurisdiction, South Africa refused to sign non-surrender agreements, choosing instead to absorb the loss of military aid and support in order to protect its international reputation as a champion of justice (Grant and Hamilton, 2016). The scholars note that South Africa's identity became increasingly conflicted as tensions between the African Union and the

ICC grew, coming to a head with the indictment of African leaders such as Sudanese President Omar al-Bashir. This indictment placed South Africa in a difficult position, forcing the country to choose between its regional obligations and its international commitment, leading to a "norm misalignment" in its foreign policy (Grant and Hamilton, 2016). The analysis presented by Grant and Hamilton is rooted in the idea that national interests and foreign policy are shaped by evolving norms and social expectations.

Boehme approaches South Africa's engagement with the ICC through an institutional and postcolonial lens, focusing on the politics of the interplay between regional and international commitments. She emphasizes how regional priorities, specifically loyalty to the African Union's collective position of non-compliance and immunity for sitting heads of state, shaped South Africa's decision-making during controversies such as the Bashir incident (Boehme, 2016). Furthermore, she highlights that South Africa's decisions were shaped by its postcolonial identity where the principles of "African solutions to African problems" and resistance to perceived neocolonial injustice had become central ideas in both the AU and the South African foreign policy (Boehme, 2016). Drawing from the theories of middle-power diplomacy and regional politics, Boehme explains why South Africa chose to prioritize its relationship with the AU over compliance with the ICC (Boehme, 2016). By exploring the tensions in both the regional and domestic context, Boehme captures South Africa's internal struggle to reconcile its identity as a staunch human rights defender with its other regional obligations (Boehme, 2016).

Sarkin adopts a historical-legal approach, tracing South Africa's shifting relationship with international justice from the apartheid era to its current state. His work is largely situated in legal scholarship, focusing on how changes to South Africa's domestic governance structures have influenced its engagement with the ICC (Sarkin, 2020). Sarkin argues that South Africa's post-apartheid embrace of international norms gave way to an interest-driven approach under the Mbeki and Zuma administrations where the country focused on alignment with the African Union, leading to periods of domestic contestation with the Court (Sarkin, 2020). Unlike Grant and Hamilton or Boehme, sarkin focuses on legal doctrine and the behavior of the institution rather than identity construction or political framing (Sarkin, 2020).

These scholars have analyzed South Africa's relationship with the ICC through several theoretical and methodological lenses, including constructivism, political institutionalism, and legal history. However, few studies have attempted to analyze how South Africa media narratives have framed the legitimacy of the ICC over time. By focusing on how the legitimacy of the ICC is constructed

and contested in South Africa over time, this study seeks to address this gap in the existing literature.

3.5 Identified Gaps in the Literature

The literature discussed in the previous sections provides a foundation for understanding the tensions between the ICC, the African Union, and South Africa, particularly through the themes of sovereignty, legitimacy, and postcolonial identity. However, many gaps remain in the literature. Much of the current research centers on analyses of legal arguments and on political disagreements between the different institutions, with limited insight into how South Africa's perception of the ICC has been created over time. Furthermore, few studies apply a framing analysis or integrate constructivism, legitimacy theory, and neo-colonialism as a combined framework. This study aims to fill this gap by using a frame analysis to trace how the legitimacy of the ICC has been constructed and contested in South African media across four key six-year periods: 2002-2007, 2008-2013, 2014-2019, and 2020-2025. This research builds on existing work but also offers a new theoretical and methodological perspective on South Africa's relationship with the Court.

4. Theoretical Framework

This chapter outlines the theoretical foundations that guide this research. The goal is to explain how the concepts of constructivism, legitimacy theory, and neo-colonialism as a framework provide the tools to understand how the legitimacy of the ICC has been constructed and contested in South Africa over time. By drawing on these theories, this chapter establishes the lens through which media narratives will be analyzed and presents how the theories are operationalized within the study.

4.1. Constructivism as a Theory

Prior to the establishment of constructivism as a theory, the world of International Relations (IR) Theory was fairly cemented in the realms of Realism and Liberalism, with Marxist perspectives remaining on the periphery of mainstream discourse. With realism focused on power struggles and self-interest and liberalism emphasizing cooperation among states through international institutions, there was not much room in the theoretical world for debate around what other influences were at play in the shaping of international politics (Baylis et al., 2023). However, the end of the Cold War in 1989 and the collapse of the Soviet Union rocked the world of IR theory as there was no clear way to explain how or why a new reality came to exist. Adding to this, the expansion of global civil society along with the number of NGOs, scholars began seeking ways to explain this new reality (Finnemore and Wendt, 2024). When traditional theories failed to explain

what was happening in the world, an explosion of new theories entered the field with constructivism cementing its place as a social theory.

Although constructivism was presented as a social theory, it was also a way to examine real political events in an empirical way. Constructivism has "no clear normative agenda" but has a "plasticity" to it that allows for the application of the theory to many different types of politics; regional, national, international, sub-state, and even non-state (Finnemore and Wendt, 2024). Constructivism relies on ontological and epistemological roots, which respectively ask the questions "what is real?" and "how do we acquire knowledge on what is real?". This theory represents the middle ground between strict realism, which believes that reality is objectively fixed, and post structuralism, which views reality as completely subjective (Adler, 1997). It is defined as the view "that the manner in which the material world shapes and is shaped by human action and interaction depends on dynamic normative and epistemic interpretations of the material world" (Adler, 1997). In other words, reality is constructed by humans and how they interpret the world based on norms, identities, and historic events (Krieger, 2014). This means that reality can shift, and change based on new interpretations, shifting identities, and historical developments.

According to Wendt and Finnemore, there are three main postulates of Constructivism; The Constitutive Power of Consciousness and Ideas, The Mutual Constitution of Agency and Structure, and Taking Both Science and Inter-Subjectivity Seriously (Finnemore and Wendt, 2024). However, this research will focus on the first two postulates of Constructivism as they are most relevant to the study's aim of analyzing how legitimacy is constructed and contested through political and media narratives, while the third postulate is less directly applicable to the goals of this research. "The Constitutive Power of Consciousness and Ideas" is central to classical constructivism and states that the way actors, such as states or people, understand the world around them is what shapes their behavior (Finnemore and Wendt, 2024). This interpretation of the world is based on their ideas, beliefs, and norms, meaning that they actively constitute what reality means to them through their perception of reality. Wendt famously provides the example of North Korean nuclear weapons being perceived as more threatening than British held nuclear weapons to the United States. The meaning of those weapons from the perspective of the United States is shaped by which actor is in possession of them. Therefore, it is the idea attached to the weapons that matter the most, rather than the weapons themselves (Finnemore and Wendt, 2024). This emphasis on meaning reflects the ontological foundations of Constructivism - the idea that reality is not fixed but is shaped through the interpretations of those who participate in it.

The second postulate revolves around "The Mutual Constitution of Agency and Structure", which is based on the idea that people and social structures shape each other rather than existing in isolation (Finnemore and Wendt, 2024). This means that institutions do not exist independently, but they are made to be real and meaningful through the actions and interpretations of people and states, tying into the epistemological roots of Constructivism. For example, global institutions like the ICC provide structure for international law through the Rome Statute, which influences the ways states are expected to behave. However, it is the engagement, interpretation of, and critique of the institution itself by the states that shapes its meaning. Is the Court legitimate? Are its norms appropriate? These types of questions are not fixed but are actively constructed based on state behavior and perception.

Ideas, beliefs, and norms are the building blocks through which actors make sense of the world and thereby construct social reality. Norms are defined by Finnemore and Sikkink as a "standard of appropriate behavior for actors with a given identity. These norms then "prompt justification for action and leave an extensive trail of communication among actors that we can study", highlighting that norms do not operate in silence, but are made visible through language (Finnemore and Sikkink, 1998). Norms are constantly debated, defended, contested, and framed within political rhetoric and media coverage. This trail of communication offers insight into how the legitimacy of global institutions is constructed and challenged over time. It is this relationship between the construction of norms and the language used to uphold or critique them that leads into the discussion of Institutional Legitimacy Theory, which will be explored in the following section.

4.2 Legitimacy Theory

Legitimacy Theory explores the ways in which global governance institutions are deemed credible and authoritative in the eyes of the public and stakeholders it affects. Institutions do not automatically become legitimate upon inception or because there are set rules. Instead, legitimacy is something that is earned, interpreted, and socially constructed. Legitimacy is therefore not simply based in legality, but also in politics and norms (Buchanan and Keohane, 2006).

According to Buchanan and Keohane, legitimacy can be defined in two broad ways: normatively and sociologically. Normative legitimacy refers to whether an institution has the right to rule, in the sense that it attempts to secure compliance by "attaching costs to non-compliance and/or benefits to compliance" (Buchanan and Keohane, 2006). Whereas sociological legitimacy is based on a widely held belief that an institution is believed to have the right to rule. It is equally

important for an institution to be legitimate as it is for the institution to be perceived as being legitimate because these types of institutions will only thrive if they are viewed as legitimate by democratic publics (Buchanan and Keohane, 2006).

Buchanan and Keohane articulate that there are three candidates that are often used when attempting to explain the conditions an institution must satisfy in order to have the right to rule: state consent, consent by democratic states, and global democracy (Buchanan and Keohane, 2006). However, they argue that these standards alone are inadequate. To have the consent of states is not enough because some states may be undemocratic and violate the human rights of their citizens which renders the state itself illegitimate and unable to convey legitimacy upon an institution. Consent by democratic states is more likely to lend legitimacy to an institution, but it assumes that democracies will always act legitimately, which is not true. Additionally, a reliance on consent by democratic states for legitimacy, ignores actors who are not citizens of democratic states, which is "detrimental to the interests of the world's worst-off people", with the assumption that democratic states tend to be richer and therefore more powerful (Buchanan and Keohane, 2006). The third candidate, global democracy, is also not sufficient for creating a standard of legitimacy because although democracy is considered to be the "gold standard" for legitimacy in the case of the state, there is no global political structure that provides the basis for democratic control over global governance institutions (Buchanan and Keohane, 2006). This means that global democracy does not exist in practical reality because global governance institutions are meant to coordinate between states, rather than govern individuals directly making the standard of global democracy impractical. Given that global governance institutions are in their infancy and are still evolving, Buchanan and Keohane have established a global standard for how the legitimacy of institutions could be assessed.

The solution presented for a standard of legitimacy, which is based in the normative, rests on three substantive criteria: Minimal Moral Acceptability, Comparative Benefit, and Institutional Integrity. Minimal moral acceptability insists that in order for an institution to be legitimate and deserving of support it must not violate fundamental moral norms or basic human rights (Buchanan and Keohane, 2006). Regardless of an institution's effectiveness, it must not only do good but also avoid doing harm. The second substantive condition for legitimacy is comparative benefit, stating that the institution must provide "benefits that cannot otherwise be obtained" in addressing the global problems it was designed to solve (Buchanan and Keohane, 2006). This represents the pragmatic function of legitimacy in that actors are more likely to accept the authority of the institution and deem it to be legitimate if it delivers meaningful outcomes. The third substantive condition for legitimacy is institutional integrity, which largely depends on

accountability. This means that global governance institutions should have mechanisms in place that make sure they are using their power responsibly and can be challenged or corrected when mistakes are made, if bias is involved in decision making, or they have overstepped their authority (Buchanan and Keohane, 2006). These three substantive conditions for legitimacy do not come without limitations and in fact Buchanan and Keohane point out two limitations on the applicability of these criteria: the problem of factual knowledge and the problem of moral disagreement and uncertainty.

The problem of factual knowledge refers to the difficulty in being able to judge whether an institution satisfies the three substantive conditions. This can occur for a number of reasons including but not limited to the institution failing to provide the necessary information or being unable to provide it in a digestible form for the general public. The problem of moral disagreement and uncertainty is based on potential disagreements about moral standards, particularly the standard regarding the violation of basic human rights, due to different cultures, ideologies, and political systems (Buchanan and Keohane, 2006) Ultimately, the more substantive requirements for legitimacy that an institution can satisfy, and the higher degree to which it satisfies those requirements, the stronger its claim to legitimacy (Buchanan and Keohane: 2006).

Building on this, Mark Suchman further defines legitimacy in the sociological sense, as "a generalized perception or assumption that the actions of an entity are desirable, proper, or appropriate within some socially constructed system of norms, values, beliefs, and definitions" (Suchman, 1995). He emphasizes that legitimacy is "possessed objectively, yet created subjectively," meaning that institutions may be treated as legitimate in practice (objective), this treatment is rooted in socially constructed beliefs and perceptions of the organization (subjective) (Suchman, 1995). This means that legitimacy is always in flux based on the actions of the institution and the perception of those actions by the public. Ian Hurd further argues that legitimacy in international politics is based on a "normative belief by an actor that a rule or institutions ought to be obeyed" (Hurd, 1999). Therefore, it can be understood that legitimacy does not come from legal authority alone, rather it comes from a shared belief that an institution is just and therefore its rules should be obeyed. If actors regard an institution as legitimate, they comply with its rules, not out of force, but because they believe the institution should be obeyed, which gives the institution influence and stability, even if it lacks a means of enforcing its rules (Hurd, 1999). Suchman and Hurd emphasize sociological legitimacy based on perception and one that is socially constructed, while Buchanan and Keohane approach legitimacy from a normative standpoint, where they seek to establish concrete criteria for legitimacy based on morals, principles of justice, accountability, and institutional performance.

While this study draws on both normative and sociological definitions of legitimacy to explain how international institutions are understood, its focus remains grounded in the sociological approach. This study does not aim to assess whether the ICC is objectively legitimate based on normative criteria, but rather to explore how legitimacy is framed, perceived, and contested within South African political and media narratives.

To strengthen the link between the theory of constructivism and the theory of institutional legitimacy this research will also incorporate neo-colonialism as a complementary framework. Understanding the ways in which historical events, particularly colonialism, have shaped modern institutions and the global distribution of power allows for a deeper examination of how legitimacy is constructed and challenged over time. Neo-colonialism highlights that many international institutions, including the ICC, are perceived as extensions of colonialism, while operating under the guise of ideas of justice and neutrality. By exploring the theories of constructivism and institutional legitimacy through the lens of neo-colonialism, the research will be able to better critically analyze how postcolonial states like South Africa construct and contest global institutions, like the ICC.

4.3. Neo-colonialism as a Framework

While this study is largely guided by the theories of constructivism and legitimacy, it incorporates neo-colonialism as a complementary framework to better understand the historical and political context in which South Africa constructs its views on the ICC. Neo-colonialism, said to be the last form of imperialism, was coined by former Ghana President, Kwame Nkrumah in 1965 during a time in which the world was in flux as colonies were gaining independence for the first time in decades and the world was rearranging based on alignment with the US and other western, democratic powers, with the Soviet Union and other communist states, or were choosing to remain unaligned. It refers to the persistence of colonial power structures in newly independent states, through political, economic, and institutional dominance by their former colonial powers (Nkrumah, 1965). This framework is crucial for analyzing how institutions like the ICC are shaped by postcolonial experiences. By combining constructivism's focus on social meaning and identity, legitimacy theory's concern with normative and perceived authority with neo-colonialism's critique of inequality, this study seeks to offer a more thorough understanding of how the ICC's legitimacy is framed, constructed, and contested in South Africa over time.

Under neo-colonialism, a state, in theory, is independent and has all of the characteristics of being a sovereign nation, but in reality, its economic, political, and therefore its governing systems are controlled by the former colonial powers (Nkrumah, 1965). Neo-colonialism can take many

shapes including the imposition of Western institutions or governing systems on former colonial nations, with the purpose of benefiting the developed world regardless of the harm done to the nation victimized by it (Nkrumah, 1965). Former colonies were granted sovereignty in name but were being subjugated to control by another form. Nkrumah's original formulation provided a path to argue that newly independent nations formally were considered sovereign nations, but that realistically they had very little actual autonomy due to the influence from former colonial powers. Nkrumah's theorization of neo-colonialism has been expanded over time, leading to the study of neo-colonialism as a framework by which global institutions can be studied. Scholars no longer apply neo-colonialism just at the state level but have expanded its use to make better sense of the influence of former colonial powers on global institutions, like the ICC. The expansion of neo-colonialism has come to include Pan-Africanism, geopolitical issues, structural adjustment, and the path toward peace in the future according to Godfrey N. Uzoigwe. (Uzoigwe, 2019). Although many scholars, including Colin Leys and Jack Woddis, claimed that neo-colonialism was temporary, it has evolved, becoming more sophisticated and pervasive, even impacting the people of these sovereign nations on an individual level (Uzoigwe, 2019). This shift has turned neo-colonialism into a powerful tool in which to study the inequalities and historical legacies that have shaped the legitimacy of these institutions.

The British, one of the most pervasive colonizers, made significant political and economic investments in the regions it ruled over and set out to leave a lasting legacy. This led to the establishment of western style governing institutions, particularly focused on the geopolitical level. Geopolitics, often associated with terms like global strategy, and balance-of-power concepts, has now come to reference political ideologies and foreign policies that "suit those of the West", especially as the majority of colonies were gaining independence at the height of the Cold War (Uzoigwe, 2019). Geopolitically, neo-colonialism has been used" to achieve foreign interests" and to maintain control without direct control (Uzoigwe, 2019). This maintenance of control also pertains to the legal systems of former colonies, as they seek to maintain jurisdiction over legal frameworks, which persists today.

To combat neo-colonialism, Nkrumah argued for an African union of newly sovereign nations that would be united both economically and politically. A Pan-African federal union, in Nkrumah's vision, would include a "continental government and federal parliamentary assembly" that would combat neo-colonial influences and ensure foreign entities could no longer divide and conquer the nations and regions of Africa (Langan, 2018). The continued vision for an African Union is evidence that neo-colonialism is not a historic relic, but a sign of an ongoing system that continues to shape governments, judicial systems, and institutions. Therefore, neocolonialism

as a framework proves to be a critical theoretical lens in which to study the legitimacy of the ICC over time in South Africa.

4.4 Operationalization of Theories

In order to explore how the legitimacy of the ICC has been constructed and challenged in South African media communications over time, this study will operationalize three theoretical pillars constructivism, legitimacy theory, and neo-colonialism as a framework, through a frame analysis approach. Constructivism provides the foundation for analyzing how legitimacy is socially constructed and will be operationalized by analyzing how media outlets interpret, represent, and respond to the ICC. Using constructivism will reveal how the perceptions of these actors are shaped by norms and identities. Legitimacy theory will be used to explain how the ICC's power is framed by media outlets through the lens of sociological legitimacy, which is to what extent the Court is perceived as having the right to rule. This will involve tracing the rhetoric used to justify compliance, critique, or withdrawal, as well as framing the ICC's role as impartial justice or selective enforcement. Neo-colonialism will be employed as a framework to examine how the postcolonial power dynamics and legacies have shaped the framing of the ICC, particularly during moments of tension such as the Bashir incident and South Africa's attempted withdrawal from the Court. In practice, the study will apply the frame analysis to media articles from four sixyear time periods; 2002-2007, 2008-2013, 2014-2019, and 2020-2025. This study will code themes and patterns related to legitimacy, sovereignty, justice, and colonial power, which will be analyzed to uncover how narratives around the ICC's legitimacy have changed, contested, or reinforced in South Africa.

5. Methodology

This chapter outlines the research design and methodological approach used to explore how the legitimacy of the ICC has been constructed and contested in South Africa over time. It begins with the explanation of the study's philosophical foundation in social constructivism and justifies the choice of a qualitative case study of South Africa. It then introduces the frame analysis method, detailing how media narratives are analyzed to trace shifts in the framing of the ICC across four six-year time periods. Also included in this chapter is the selection and sampling of data sources, the criteria used for filtering relevant articles, and the limitations of the data. This section aims to explain how the study gathers data and analyzes the evidence to answer the main research question.

5.1. Constructivism: A Qualitative Case Study

This study is grounded in social constructivism, which assumes that reality is socially constructed (Adler, 1997). Therefore, the legitimacy of global institutions like the ICC is not fixed but emerges through evolving social processes shaped by norms, beliefs, and historically situated ideas (Finnemore and Sikkink, 1998). Therefore, knowledge is actively constructed through ongoing debates, contestations, and shared understandings. This aligns with the focus of the research on how South African media actors have framed the legitimacy of the ICC across different periods, emphasizing the contested nature of international legitimacy over time.

Methodologically, the research adopts a qualitative case study design focused on South Africa, which is appropriate as it allows for an in-depth exploration of how a specific state constructs and contests its relationship with global norms and institutions (George and Bennett, 2005). South Africa is a particularly valuable case due to its early leadership in promoting the ICC following the end of apartheid, its later disillusionment during the Bashir and withdrawal debates, and its current state of cautious and critical re-engagement. By using a constructivist lens, this case study approach will allow for a detailed analysis of how frames surrounding the ICC's legitimacy have been constructed and challenged within South African media narratives.

5.2. Research Design:

This study will use a frame analysis to examine how the legitimacy of the ICC has been constructed and contested in South African media narratives across four six-year periods: 2002-2007, 2008-2013, 2014-2019, and 2020-2025. The analysis will be based on three theories: constructivism, legitimacy theory, and neo-colonialism as a framework. Constructivism will inform how people create meaning through language, showing how ideas and identities shape how the ICC is perceived. While legitimacy theory will look at whether the ICC is perceived as a fair, trustworthy, and legitimate institution. Adding neo-colonialism as a framework will enable the research to highlight how the remnants of colonial power dynamics might influence how South African frames global institutions like the ICC.

Drawing on Lindekilde's methodological guide to frame analysis, this research will focus on systematically identifying how actors define problems, assign blame, make moral claims, and propose solutions through their communication (Lindekilde, 2014). Using this approach, the study will analyze news articles by applying Entman's four framing components: problem definition, causal interpretation, moral evaluation, and treatment recommendation. Problem definition will identify how the articles define what the core issues are, such as whether the ICC is portrayed as enforcing justice or as interfering with African sovereignty. Causal interpretation

will examine how causes are assigned, for example whether blame is placed on the ICC, the UN Security Council, or African leaders themselves for tensions surrounding international justice. Moral evaluation will analyze how the events and actors are morally judged, such as portraying the ICC as a neo-colonial institution or a necessary promoter of human rights. Finally, treatment recommendations will identify solutions or courses of action proposed, like withdrawal from the ICC, reforms to international justice mechanisms, or renewed cooperation. Each article will be coded according to these four framing dimensions. By comparing frames across four time periods, the research will trace how perceptions of the ICC's legitimacy have shifted, remained consistent, or evolved in South African media narratives over time.

5.3 Method: Frame Analysis

This study adopts a Frame Analysis approach to examine how South Africa's relationship with the ICC has evolved across three distinct five-year periods. The analysis will focus on how different actors, such as government officials and media organizations, create and challenge meaning. Goffman defines a frame as a "schemata of interpretation" which allows individuals to "locate, perceive, identity, and label a seemingly infinite number of concrete occurrences" meaning individuals interpret the world through lenses to provide context to different events (Goffman, 1974). In the context of South Africa and the ICC, the higher number of African cases taken up by the ICC has been framed as evidence of selective justice or bias even though many of these cases were self-referrals by African states themselves. To that point, Goffman distinguishes between "primary frameworks", which focuses on organizing raw experiences, and "keyings", which transform these primary frames into something new, such as dramatization (Goffman, 1974). Returning to the example of the number of African cases taken up by the ICC, the primary framework would present these cases as largely self-referrals by African states, which is a legal and procedural fact. However, this frame can be keyed by political actors and media representatives into a narrative that challenges the neutrality of the Court. In this keyed frame, the same facts are interpreted as evidence of selective justice or Western bias. It is in this way that legal realities are transformed, based on how they are framed and communicated.

Entman, building on the foundation laid by Goffman, defines framing as the process of "selection and "salience" (Entman, 1993). This means that framing involves choosing specific aspects of a perceived reality and highlighting them in ways that shape how the audience understands and interprets a topic or event. Framing is the art of choosing what to show and how to show it, often through communications such as news articles and political speeches. In the context of this research, this framework allows for targeted questions such as: "How is the ICC's legitimacy being defined?", "What language is being selected and emphasized to shape public perception?".

Lasse Lindekilde builds further upon the ideas presented by Goffman and Entman by offering a practical guide for applying frame analysis in research. Lindekilde states that frame analysis focuses on how "ideological constructs are used strategically to frame a particular topic", much like a picture frame that "accentuates certain things, hides others, and borders off reality in a certain way" (Lindekilde, 2014). It is systematic and geared toward understanding how language is used to shape perceptions and drive action. Lindekilde identifies four components of frames, adapted from Entman's model: problem definition, casual interpretation, moral evaluation, and treatment recommendation (Lindekilde, 2014). He recommends using these categories to analyze media articles and political speeches, emphasizing again that framing is a strategic tool used to mobilize supporters and resist counter-narratives (Lindekilde, 2014). In the context of this research, his framework offers a clear methodological pathway for identifying how South African media actors have framed the ICC over time, particularly around the issue of legitimacy.

5.4. Data Collection and Sampling Strategy

The sources for this study were pulled from media texts in South Africa, specifically the two largest national newspapers; *Mail & Guardian* and the *Sunday Times*. The *Mail & Guardian* is an independent publication known for investigative journalism and critical coverage of political and legal issues. The *Sunday Times* is one of the largest newspapers in the country and has been chosen for its role in shaping mainstream public opinion. These newspapers were chosen for their longstanding histories in South African journalism where they have provided continuous coverage of political and legal developments. This selection provides for a balanced analysis providing insights into both investigative pieces from the *Mail & Guardian* and mainstream narratives from the *Sunday Times*.

During the initial search, keywords such as "International Criminal Court", "ICC", and "Rome Statute" were deployed to find relevant articles. Using Nexis Uni, the research was further narrowed by the selection of Africa, South Africa, and the newspaper *Sunday Times*, resulting in approximately 303 articles. This same approach was repeated for the *Mail & Guardian* where approximately 607 articles were found to be relevant. However, analyzing the full set of articles was not feasible. To create a manageable and focused sample, a selection criterion was established: opinion pieces were excluded while editorials and standard news articles were included. To ensure a balanced representation, eight articles were analyzed from each newspaper for a total of sixteen articles per period.

While the selection of articles from the *Mail & Guardian* and *Sunday Times* provides a strong basis for analysis there are limitations to this research. The decision to focus on only two newspapers

may exclude other South African media outlets, particularly those with different political leanings and regional focuses. Additionally, the reliance on articles available through the keyword search of "International Criminal Court" may have resulted in the omission of relevant articles that discuss the ICC using different terminology. The exclusion of opinion pieces¹ potentially omits valuable insights into public sentiment and framing and although efforts were made to balance the number of articles across time periods and sources, the quantity and quality of available articles varies over time, particularly in earlier periods where coverage of the ICC was limited. To combat the limitation of the lack of articles available in the earlier periods, particularly as concerns the *Mail & Guardian* as their archives are not publicly available outside of Nexis Uni, contact was made to access their archives resulting in access to 2,569 articles deemed to be relevant using the same keyword criteria. Attempts were also made to contact the *Sunday Times* for additional archival material, but these efforts were unsuccessful.

With the articles retrieved through the initial keyword search, further filtering was conducted to prioritize sources that engaged with the legitimacy, credibility, or perceived bias of the ICC. By focusing on articles that actively contributed to the framing of the ICC, both positively and negatively, this study ensured that the material analyzed was directly relevant to the research questions. This approach ensured that the final dataset reflected a balanced and thematically coherent representation of public and political debates surrounding the ICC across the selected time periods.

5.5 Use of Al Tools

Although Al tools were not used for writing the project, they were strategically employed at the beginning of the research to brainstorm topic ideas and to refine the research. For example, ChatGPT was used to identify and narrow down the number of applicable African states to study in the context of the ICC. Additionally, Al was used to organize the research framework, specifically to organize chapters and subchapters to ensure a flow that is easily digested by the reader. Apart from this, Al was used to gain a better understanding of key concepts like constructivism and legitimacy theory. It is important to note that the use of Al did not replace any aspect of critical thinking or analysis.

-

¹ The Sunday Times does not differentiate between Opinion and Editorial articles but rather has a subset of articles titled "Opinion and Editorial", which made it difficult to remove all opinion articles from the data set. Effort was made to limit the number of these articles from the Sunday Times but given the lack of public access to the Sunday Times archives some of these articles are included in the analysis.

6. Analysis

This chapter analyzes how the legitimacy of the ICC has been framed in South African media narratives across four distinct time periods using the two largest national newspapers, the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian*. Entman's four framing components - problem definition, causal interpretation, moral evaluation, and treatment recommendation - enables this study to thoroughly evaluate each time period while simultaneously drawing upon legitimacy theory to trace how South African media perceptions of the ICC's legitimacy have shifted over time.

Each time period will begin with a brief contextual overview, followed by a detailed analysis of the frames that emerged in each newspaper. Each section will conclude with a synthesis of how the ICC was framed across both publications during that period. The synthesis will draw on constructivism, legitimacy theory, and neo-colonialism as a framework to interpret the larger meaning and implications of the framing of how the ICC's legitimacy is constructed and contested in South African media narratives.

6.1 2002-2007: Commitment to International Justice?

After the end of the apartheid era and the adoption of a new democratic constitution, South Africa established itself as a strong supporter of human rights norms and of the ICC by becoming one of the first African nations to ratify the Rome Statute (Jeangène Vilmer, 2016). Signaling an even stronger commitment to defending human rights and to the ICC, South Africa incorporated its obligations under the Statute into its Constitution through the Implementation of the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court Act of 2002 (Jeangène Vilmer, 2016). This allowed for the prosecution of international crimes under South African law and indicated that the government intended to position itself as a regional leader and supporter of the Court. South Africa's early support for the ICC reflected its belief that the Court was legitimate and held promise for bringing an end to impunity.

The Sunday Times framed the ICC in South Africa during the period 2002-2007 as an institution that was necessary and one that was established in good faith. By supporting the ICC, South Africa had an opportunity to confirm its post-apartheid identity as a defender of international justice norms and to test its consistency of upholding international norms. The ICC was posited as a tool for upholding international legal norms where states fail to uphold those norms. However, the Mail & Guardian framed the ICC in South Africa during the same period, 2002-2007, in a broader and more critical capacity as an investigative newspaper. Although the Mail & Guardian was still supportive of the goals of the ICC, it raised concerns about political interference, neo-colonial dynamics, and the dilemma of peace versus justice and the impact

these issues could have on its legitimacy. Furthermore, it notes that although the ICC is an important tool for international justice, it must not allow itself to become a pawn in the game of power politics. The following analyzes first the *Sunday Times* articles and then the *Mail & Guardian* articles with the framing of the ICC in South Africa using Entman's four components.

6.1.1 The Sunday Times

Problem Definition: Double Standards and Africa's Inconsistent Enforcement

The *Sunday Times* identified two problems throughout its coverage: The disregard of international law by powerful Western nations, such as the US, and the failure of African states, including South Africa, to enforce justice in a consistent manner within its own territory. The ICC was consistently framed as a tool to address global impunity, especially when Western states were attempting to shield themselves from accountability, while calling for justice elsewhere. For reference, South African journalist Andrew Donaldson noted that the war in Iraq made the world more dangerous "by curtailing human rights, undermining the rule of international law, and shielding governments from scrutiny" (Donaldson, "War on Terror", 2003). Similarly, another article cited Judge Richard Goldstone's view that the U.S. invasion of Iraq was "unlawful" and "not in accord with international law", sending a message that international norms are illegitimate when applied selectively, specifically when it comes to Western nations like the US (Barron, 2003).

At the same time, calls were made for African states to not allow these double standards to take hold at home. In a 2003 editorial, the *Sunday Times* highlighted South Africa's failure to act on its own laws, such as the plea deal in the Mark Thatcher² case, which left "South Africa's jurisprudence...poorer" by not allowing a full legal test of its anti-mercenary legislation (Seria, 2005). Additionally, the newspaper called out South Africa's silence on Mugabe's actions in Zimbabwe, stating that "South Africa must act, and speak out against what is happening in Zimbabwe" and "start living up to its responsibilities as a regional leader" (Donaldson, "Law Report on Zimbabwe", 2004). With these articles, the *Sunday Times* indicated that Africa had a problem with double standards when it comes to upholding the international rule of law at home.

Causal Interpretation: The causes of these problems are linked to the dominance of Western powers within the geopolitical order and the hesitancy of African states to uphold the rule of law when it brings the threat of economic harm or is politically inconvenient. The US invasion of Iraq and its refusal to cooperate with the ICC were noted as undermining the rule of law (Barron, 2003; Donaldson "War on Terror", 2003). Additionally, South Africa's failure to prosecute people like

33

-

² Mark Thatcher was a businessman arrested in South Africa for allegedly funding a failed coup in Equatorial Guinea and was set to be tried in but was offered a plea deal in which he pled guilty under anti-mercenary laws and paid a \$450,000 fine.

Thatcher or to challenge Mugabe's abuses in Zimbabwe signaled a selective application of justice at home (Seria, 2005; Ellis, 2007). South Africa's own reluctance to act is directly tied to political and economic considerations, indicating hesitancy of African states to uphold the law when it is economically and politically inconvenient. These issues weakened not only the credibility of the ICC, but also South Africa.

Moral Evaluation: The *Sunday Times* made several claims about the importance of upholding international law as South Africa was commended for rejecting demands from the US for bilateral agreements for its citizens to be protected from ICC prosecution, with Max du Plessis pushing the government to not "sign away its soul for the promise of better trade terms" (du Plessis, 2003). However, the moral ground South Africa claimed to stand on was continuously undermined by its own reluctance to challenge regional abuses. Its failure to prosecute Thatcher and its silence regarding Mugabe's alleged crimes were framed as moral and ethical failures.

Treatment Recommendation The solution proposed across the *Sunday Times* articles is clear: South Africa must "lead by example" (Hoeane, 2003). This means that it must apply the same legal standards at the domestic level as it expects to be applied internationally, specifically towards Western powers. Hoeane called for South Africa to "take charge" and to prove that no one can expect to operate with impunity (Hoeane, 2003). By supporting the ICC, South Africa is not only fulfilling its legal obligations but can use the institution as a tool to resist neo-colonial pressures from countries like the US. Therefore, the ICC was framed as an institution whose legitimacy depends on states like South Africa to uphold the rule of law at home and abroad.

6.1.2 The Mail & Guardian

Problem Definition: Western Impunity, Peace vs. Justice, and Political Interference

The *Mail & Guardian* identified three problems throughout its coverage during the time period 2002-2007: Unequal application of international law, particularly enjoyed by powerful Western nations, the dilemma between peace and justice, and finally the inconsistent accountability due to political interference. Similar to the point made in the *Sunday Times*, the *Mail & Guardian* also highlights the unequal application of international law as it relates to powerful Western nations. The ICC was created to pursue justice for all, but the lack of accountability for Western nations, particularly the US, was criticized by a staff reporter as the US created a "new category" for Afghan prisoners designating them as neither "prisoners of war" nor "common criminals", thereby preventing them from receiving due process and violating international law ("Goldstone slates US", 2002). This criticism was echoed by another staff reporter addressing a legal test case that was underway in Germany against former US defense secretary, Donald Rumsfeld, for

alleged war crimes against these same Afghan prisoners. The reporter notes that, "up until now, Western leaders have seemed immune from international justice", regardless of the precedent set in the Pinochet case ("Autumn of the Patriarch", 2006). These examples indicate that when violations are committed by Western nations, like the US, there appeared to be a lack of accountability. This selective enforcement undermines the legitimacy of the ICC and reinforces the perception of double standards and selective justice.

Another recurring problem was the dilemma between peace and justice. The ICC, in the case of the self-referred Uganda situation, was faced with prosecuting those accused of crimes against humanity during an active conflict at the risk of derailing ongoing peace negotiations (Sheikh, 2005). Uganda's "unilateral offer of amnesty" to the Lord's Rebellion Army in exchange for peace undermined the credibility of the ICC and sparked a debate "over whether those who have committed war crimes should be allowed to escape international justice for the sake of peace" ("Peace versus Justice", 2006). This sparked further debates over whether the ICC, in its pursuit of international justice, had become a threat to stability in the region. Finally, the *Mail & Guardian* points to the concern of inconsistent accountability due to political interference. This ties back to the issue regarding amnesty and the fact that the Court's authority is "limited by political and diplomatic interventions", suggesting that the Court's ability to act is constrained by the willingness of states to enforce justice when it is politically inconvenient ("Is Amnesty a Viable Solution", 2003). This proves that as political interests get in the way, justice becomes selective, which weakens the credibility of the ICC.

Causal Interpretation: The *Mail & Guardian* suggests that the issues the ICC is facing are caused by two issues: the power of Western nations and the fact that governments often decide to put politics ahead of justice. For example, powerful countries like the US are not held accountable by the Court, due to their positioning in the geopolitical sphere. Following the coverage of the treatment of prisoners in Afghanistan, a "new category" of prisoners was created by the US that avoided both international and US legal protections, therefore allowing them to avoid accountability ("Goldstone Slates US", 2002). Further exemplifying this issue, the attempt to charge Donald Rumsfeld was deemed unlikely to succeed as "Western leaders have seemed immune from international justice" ("Autumn of the Patriarch", 2006).

The *Mail & Guardian* also points to a disconnect between the legal mandate of the ICC and the reality of local politics. In Uganda, the Court was criticized for issuing arrest warrants during peace talks with one article noting that it could "close...the path to peaceful negotiation" ("Peace Groups Balk at ICC Decision", 2004). Furthermore, when Uganda decided to offer amnesty to the

perpetrators after the ICC had indicated warrants for arrest were to be issued, it undermined the legitimacy of the Court by putting its own politics ahead of international justice ("Peace versus Justice", 2006). Overall, the *Mail & Guardian*, similar to the *Sunday Times*, notes that the ICC is struggling not only because of legal issues, but because of political reasons as well, mainly non-cooperation by the states.

Moral Evaluation: The Mail & Guardian expressed concerns about the moral credibility of the ICC when the impression is given that it applies justice selectively or is politically biased. It raised questions as to why powerful Western nations, like the US, are rarely prosecuted even when they have been accused of committing war crimes (Autumn of the Patriarch", 2006). The ICC was also criticized for interfering with local peace processes in Uganda, even though this was a case of self-referral, by issuing arrest warrants for leaders in the LRA (Sheik, 2005). Despite these concerns, the newspaper recognized the value of the ICC in the global justice system. It offered praise for the Court for its actions in Darfur, citing them as a "first step" toward accountability as it issued summons for sitting heads of government ("Activists Welcome ICC Summons on Darfur", 2007). Overall, the Mail & Guardian notes that the ICC is an essential institution, its moral authority is dependent upon fairly and consistently applying justice to all.

Treatment Recommendation The solution proposed across the *Mail & Guardian* articles is clear: the ICC must pursue justice in a fair and consistent way to all states, including powerful Western nations ("Autumn of the Patriarch", 2006). Additionally, in order to maintain its legitimacy, the ICC must take into consideration the political context of the countries in which it operates in order to avoid the risk of undermining peace efforts in active conflict zones (Sheidk, 2005; "Peace Groups Balk at ICC Decision, 2004). Although the *Mail & Guardian* takes a more critical approach to the ICC, it still supports its role in the fight against impunity ("Activists Welcome ICC Summons on Darfur, 2007).

6.1.3 Synthesis

Both the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian*, between 2002 and 2007, framed the ICC as a vital institution in the fight against impunity, but one whose legitimacy depended on consistent support from its member states, especially South Africa as one of its earliest supporters. Through a constructivist lens, both newspapers discuss how the legitimacy of the ICC is not automatic but is shaped by how actors interact with the institution and whether they see it as fair and credible. The *Sunday Times* framed the ICC as a necessary tool for enforcing international law and ending impunity, while the *Mail & Guardian* took a more cautious and critical approach. Although the *Mail & Guardian* acknowledged the importance of the Court, concerns were raised

about double standards, political influence, and bias specifically pointing out that Western countries are rarely held accountable for their crimes while less powerful nations are almost always held accountable. This concern reflects a broader neo-colonial critique. Given that the Court was still in its infancy, the newspapers concern that the ICC already appeared to shield powerful nations from accountability raised questions about its future and long-term legitimacy. The implication was that international law may not be neutral and risked becoming another tool to be used against weaker nations in the Global South.

Using legitimacy theory, both newspapers suggest that the authority of the ICC depends on being consistent and fair. If it cannot maintain this standard and be perceived as doing so, its credibility is weakened. Overall, the ICC was framed in both newspapers as a Court that is well intentioned, but one that faces serious challenges such as political interference, selective enforcement, and issues of inequality.

6.2 2008-2013: Increasing Tensions

Following this period of initial support for the ICC, South Africa entered a new period of engagement with the Court between 2008 and 2013 which was marked by increasing tensions. As a signatory to the Rome Statute and a member of the African Union, South Africa began to find itself conflicted between its legal obligations to the ICC and its regional obligations as a member of the AU. The AU and other regional actors increasingly began to view the ICC as a biased institution that was overly focused on Africa (Jeangène Vilmer, 2016; Jalloh, 2019). The indictment of Sudanese President Omar al-Bashir marked a turning point in the relationship between the AU and the ICC, as the AU criticized the Court for selective justice and undermining peace processes by indicting a sitting head of state (Magliveras, 2019). This period reflects a slight shift in the framing of the ICC in South Africa, portraying the Court not as a neutral institution, but as an institution caught between justice and sovereignty.

The Sunday Times framed the ICC in South Africa during the period 2008-2013 as an institution that was still worthy of preservation, but one whose legitimacy was under attack due to increasing tensions between South Africa's obligations to both the ICC and the AU, alongside accusations of bias. It noted the growing calls for withdrawal across Africa from the Court but warned that leaving the Court would lead to impunity. The Mail & Guardian framed the ICC in South Africa during the same period, 2008-2013, in a similar manner, but provided a broader context and a more critical perspective. Although the Mail & Guardian acknowledged how invaluable the ICC could be in preventing future atrocities, it provided a more direct criticism of the ICC's actions. The Mail & Guardian questioned whether the ICC could maintain its legitimacy if it continued to

disproportionately focus on African states while ignoring the crimes committed by powerful states, like the US, and called for the ICC to consider the impact of its actions on peace efforts. Both newspapers began to shift from viewing the Court as a vital and necessary institution toward more cautious support during the 2008-2013 period by framing the ICC as an invaluable institution, but one in need of reform. The following analyzes first the *Sunday Times* articles and then the *Mail & Guardian* articles with the framing of the ICC in South Africa using Entman's four components.

6.2.1 The Sunday Times

Problem Definition: Selective Justice, Political Pressure, and the Threat of Withdrawal

The *Sunday Times* identified three overarching problems throughout its coverage of the ICC: Issues of selective justice and neo-colonialism, increasing tensions between South Africa's obligations to the ICC and the AU, and finally the risk of the undermining of international justice if the AU were to withdraw from the ICC. The ICC is framed as a Court that is overly interested in prosecuting cases from Africa, despite the ongoing atrocities outside of the continent. Mohau Pheko asked why "Africa (is) the only continent targeted by the ICC", which emphasized the perception of selective prosecution (Pheko, 2008). Not only does Pheko question the Court's interest in Africa but posits that Western solutions for justice are in direct conflict with African notions of justice, which are rooted not only in punishment but in seeking a lasting peace (Pheko, 2008). This critique is echoed by African leaders who warned that it appears "foreign judges seek to recolonise Africa through a form of 'judicial coup détat'" under the auspices of "universal jurisdiction" (Fritz, 2008). Not only does the problem identified by the *Sunday Times* rest in the selective application of justice, but in the danger of the Court becoming another tool of neocolonialism.

The second problem centers on the increasing tension between South Africa's obligations to both the ICC and the AU. This tension came to a head with the Court's indictment of Omar al-Bashir, which the AU refused to cooperate with, citing that it would make it "more difficult to resolve the Darfur conflict" (Maharaj, 2009). The leading party in South Africa, the ANC, agreed with the AU and went so far as to accuse the ICC of "representing inequality before world justice, where the weak are always wrong and the strong are always right", thereby accusing the ICC of unfairly targeting African leaders over Western leaders (Ngalwa, "SA Wants Plan", 2013). However, this agreement by South Africa was seen by legal activists as being in direct conflict with not only its obligations to the Court, but "in violation of South Africa's constitution" (Harper, 2009).

Finally, while the ICC was framed as being imperfect, it was noted that if the AU leaves the Court, as many members were arguing for, it would undermine the rule of law and "play into the hands of human rights abusers" (Ngalwa, "Africa Decides", 2013). Bensouda, the newly elected ICC Prosecutor, argued that the ICC goes "where the victims need us" and that leaving the Court would allow for the "repetition" of experiences like those in Rwanda, Uganda, and Sudan (Chirinda, 2012). The *Sunday Times* pointed out that if the AU decided to leave the Court there would be a vacuum of justice left in the wake. Overall, the framing suggests that the ICC's legitimacy is under pressure, but that abandoning the Court could lead to even greater harm to international justice.

Causal Interpretation: The Sunday Times suggests that the issues the ICC is facing are caused by Western dominance in global institutions and South Africa's conflicting obligations and loyalties. As the ICC began to launch more investigations, it became clear that the African continent was the focus of the majority of these cases (Pheko, 2008; Fritz, 2008). Additionally, as these cases began to target more sitting heads of state of African states, the AU began to oppose what it viewed as biased prosecutions leading to tensions for South Africa as it attempted to balance its obligations to the ICC and the AU (Maharaj, 2009; Harper, 2009). This tension intensified following the indictment of Sudanese President Omar al-Bashir, whereby the AU began to push a policy of non-cooperation on the basis that the indictments undermined peace efforts (Maharaj, 2009). As a sitting member of both the ICC and the AU, South Africa was left with the choice of upholding its obligations to the Court and thereby its own constitution or standing with regional allies and choosing a policy of non-cooperation. Ultimately, it was both the dominance of Western powers in global institutions and the political tension that contributed to the weakening of the ICC's credibility during this period.

Moral Evaluation: The Sunday Times framed the ICC as an institution that was morally necessary for holding perpetrators accountable, yet one whose legitimacy was undermined by its selective application of justice and the politicization of the Court. While the newly elected ICC Prosecutor, Fatou Bensouda, praised the Court as a symbol of justice for victims, the newspaper echoed concerns that the ICC was too focused on African leaders while Western leaders went unpunished (Chirinda, 2012; Pheko, 2008). The Sunday Times also questioned the moral authority of South Africa, specifically when it failed to live up to its human rights commitments. South Africa's failure to act in the face of the Libyan crisis and its acquiescence to the AU on the Bashir indictment were criticized as a betrayal of its constitutional obligations and its identity on the global stage as a human rights defender (Harper, 2009; "A rare chance to shine", 2011). Both

the ICC and South Africa were deemed to be morally compromised when they put political interests ahead of a commitment to justice.

Treatment Recommendation: The solution proposed across the *Sunday Times* articles is clear: the ICC should operate with a greater level of fairness and South Africa, along with the AU, should seek reform rather than withdrawal from the ICC. The newspaper further argued that the Court's legitimacy should be strengthened through reform and pressure from regional powers, rather than abandoning it (Ngalwa, "Africa Decides Not to Exit ICC, 2013). As South Africa criticized the ICC and made plans for the withdrawal of the AU, it sought an alternative to replace the Court, specifically at the regional level. It acknowledged that it is "known for its strong policies on human rights and upholding the rule of law" and that a justice vacuum was a risk it was not willing to take (Ngalwa, "SA Wants Plan", 2013). Furthermore, the *Sunday Times* called on South Africa to embody its role as a leader in human rights protections by standing up to the abuses in Libya and supporting the ICC investigation into Gaddafi ("A Rare Chance to Shine", 2011). By meeting its constitutional and regional obligations, South Africa would be able to uphold international justice, while also calling for reform within the ICC, thereby strengthening the legitimacy of both the Court and its own identity as a human rights defender.

6.2.2 The Mail & Guardian

Problem Definition: Selective Justice and the Struggle Between Peace, Justice, and Sovereignty

Between 2008 and 2013, the *Mail & Guardian* identified two overarching problems throughout its coverage of the ICC: Selective justice and neo-colonialism, and a growing tension between peace, justice, and sovereignty. Similar to the *Sunday Times*, the *Mail & Guardian* criticized the ICC for being overly interested in prosecuting African leaders while ignoring atrocities committed by powerful nations like the U.S, feeding into accusations of neo-colonialism (Mannak, 2008). As the ICC began prosecuting cases, four out of the first six cases were in Africa, leading to the criticism that the ICC was focused on "economically weak and politically vulnerable countries" and that it was using Africa as a "test case" for international justice (Mannak, 2008). Expanding upon this critique, a top AU official noted that the ICC was deploying a "double-standard by exclusively targeting African leaders", indicating that the AU was quickly souring to the idea of the Court and raising concerns about its legitimacy ("ICC accused of 'exclusively", 2011).

At the same time, the *Mail & Guardian* raised questions on the growing tension between the ICC's pursuit of justice and efforts by African countries to seek peace and maintain their sovereignty. When the ICC issued a warrant for the arrest of Sudanese President Omar al-Bashir, the AU

criticized the Court decision as one that would obstruct progress in peace talks and aid in the destabilization of the region ("Peace and Justice Go Together", 2008). Jean Ping, AU Commission President, reinforced this critique by arguing that the Court was putting justice ahead of peace and security, stating that all three must be taken together in a "holistic manner" or risk creating "more problems than solving them" ("ICC Accused of 'exclusively', 2011). The *Mail & Guardian* showed that the ICC's attempt to bring an end to impunity led to the Court being perceived as interfering with peace talks and decisions that should have been left to sovereign nations. This framing suggests that the legitimacy of the ICC was questioned not only because of the perceived bias against African states, but also because African countries were being forced to choose between international justice and protecting their sovereignty.

Causal Interpretation: The *Mail & Guardian* suggests that the problems facing the ICC were caused by the dominance of powerful states in international justice and growing tension between the ICC's blind pursuit of justice without considering the reality of regional politics. The Court was perceived as targeting weaker, mostly African countries, while ignoring countries like the US, giving the impression that the ICC was biased (Mannak, 2008; "ICC Accused of 'Exclusively'", 2011). As the ICC focused on pursuing justice in cases like Sudan and Kenya by issuing arrest warrants for sitting heads of state without considering the regional political ramifications, the ICC opened itself up to criticism regarding its legitimacy. The AU argued that these arrest warrants would hurt peace talks and interfere with national sovereignty ("Peace and Justice Go Together", 2008; Malone, 2010). These tensions made it difficult for the ICC to be perceived as legitimate.

Moral Evaluation: The Mail & Guardian framed the ICC as an institution that intended to end impunity but questioned whether it was capable of living up to that intention. It's moral authority and legitimacy were under attack by accusations of bias and selective justice, with many articles noting that the ICC appeared to only be prosecuting African leaders and ignoring abuses committed by powerful states ("ICC Accused of 'Exclusively' Targeting Africans", 2011; Mannak, 2008). The Mail & Guardian also raised questions on whether the Court was truly acting in the best interests of victims if it was willing to put peace and security at risk by indicting sitting heads of state (Maromo, 2013). However, the Court was also praised by Kofi Annan, Secretary General of the United Nations (UN), for trying to bring accountability for serious crimes, stating that "justice and peace are interlinked" and should be pursued simultaneously ("Africa to Decide on Involvement in ICC", 2013). Additionally, the newspaper indicated that the ICC was a "critical institution" for preventing future abuses and protecting international justice ("Security Council Referral Confirms ICC", 2011). The moral evaluation presented by the Mail & Guardian was mixed

in noting that the ICC is necessary, but that it has work to do in order to be perceived as a balanced and fair institution that is at a minimum aware of the political implications of its actions.

Treatment Recommendation: The solution proposed in the *Mail & Guardian* articles call for reforms within the ICC rather than withdrawal en masse by African states. African countries were encouraged to remain involved with the ICC in order to push for reform from the inside and to hold the Court accountable ("Security Council Reconfirms ICC", 2011). The newspaper also called for justice to be applied equally across all regions and nations, regardless of their geopolitical standing (Mannak, 2008). Additionally, the ICC was urged to launch investigations outside of the African continent in order to rebuild trust (Mannak, 2008). Another suggestion presented in the *Mail & Guardian* articles indicated that justice should not usurp peace processes, but that the two should operate in parallel ("ICC accused of 'Exclusively' Targeting Africans, 2011). Overall, the approach to reaffirming the legitimacy of the ICC proposed by the *Mail & Guardian* was for the Court to reform.

6.2.3 Synthesis

Between 2008 and 2013, the *Sunday Times* and *Mail & Guardian* continued to frame the ICC as an invaluable institution for ending impunity and bringing perpetrators to justice, but one that was facing challenges to its legitimacy due to perceived bias, political interference, and an increasingly difficult relationship with African states. From a constructivist perspective, both newspapers noted that the ICC's legitimacy was shaped by its interactions with states and how those states perceived the institution. The *Sunday Times* warned that although the Court was not perfect, withdrawal would mean leaving a vacuum in international justice. Similarly, the *Mail & Guardian* called for reform with greater emphasis on the ICC's actions that potentially risked undermining peace efforts in Africa, specifically its indictments of sitting heads of state, which clashed with the political reality on the ground.

Reflecting a neo-colonial critique, both newspapers raised concerns about the perception of the ICC's selective enforcement of African states, whilst powerful states like the US went unpunished. This left the impression that the ICC was disproportionately attacking weaker states. When applying legitimacy theory, it is clear the newspapers framed the legitimacy of the ICC as being dependent upon its fair application of justice and respect for the political reality in which it operates. Overall, both newspapers framed the Court as legitimate, but one that needs reform.

6.3 2014-2019: Constitutional Crisis and Increasing Tensions

Following a period of cautious support for the ICC alongside calls for reform, South Africa's engagement with the ICC between 2014 and 2019 was marked by increasing tensions, ending in

an attempted withdrawal. In 2015, South Africa failed to arrest the Sudanese president upon his visit to the country in direct violation of its obligations to the ICC (Jeangène Vilmer, 2016;). Consequently, this resulted in domestic fall out as legal institutions challenged the ruling party, the ANC, and intensified criticism of the ICC's perceived bias against African leaders (Magliveras, 2019; "Court Criticised over "Al-Bashir" Judgment." de Rebus, August 2015:5 [2015] DEREBUS 124", 2015). In response, South Africa sent a letter notifying the UN of its intent to withdraw from the Court in 2016, many believe to avoid any legal consequences, although this was later ruled unconstitutional by the High Court (Werle & Zimmermann, 2017). This marked a turning point not only in South Africa's relationship with the ICC, but also in the framing of the ICC by South African media. The ICC was no longer framed as an institution necessary to end impunity, but rather as one in crisis.

The *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian* framed the ICC in South Africa during the period 2014-2019 as an institution that was important, but one whose legitimacy was increasingly under attack. The Bashir incident represented a turning point that tested not only the ICC, but also South Africa's commitment to its own laws and its self-proclaimed identity as a defender of human rights. The *Sunday Times* emphasized the domestic implications of South Africa's decision to allow Bashir to return to Sudan, while the *Mail & Guardian* used the incident to shed light on regional and international implications. However, both newspapers continued to criticize the ICC for perceptions of selective justice. Ultimately, during the 2014-2019 period the ICC was framed as an institution in crisis, but one that could be saved through reform. The following analyzes first the *Sunday Times* articles and then the *Mail & Guardian* articles with the framing of the ICC in South Africa using Entman's four components.

6.3.1 The Sunday Times

Problem Definition: Constitutional Crisis, Selective Justice, and Debates of Withdrawal

The Sunday Times identified three overarching problems throughout its coverage of the ICC: The domestic constitutional crisis stemming from the Bashir incident and subsequent attempt at withdrawal, the continued perception that the ICC is biased and unfairly targets Africa and finally debates over withdrawal from the ICC by African states. According to the newspaper, South Africa's decision to allow Sudanese President Omar al-Bashir to leave the country in defiance of a court order represented a direct threat to the country's constitution. One author noted that South Africa is "in big trouble if the only alternative to an unfavourable court ruling is to ignore or defy it" indicating that ignoring the High Court's order forbidding al-Bashir's exit from the country was a "subversion of the rule of law" (Tlhabi, 2015). Echoing this, the newspaper noted that ignoring the law was a betrayal of "South Africa's proud tradition...of being a champion of human

rights and justice" ("Quitting ICC Would Betray", 2015). This constitutional crisis was framed as a turning point in post-apartheid South Africa which would determine whether the country would uphold its constitutional obligations and the rule of law.

Along with legal concerns, the *Sunday Times* also indicated that the ICC was still dealing with concerns of selective justice. Questions were raised on why the ICC continued to pursue actors like Bashir, but refused to investigate figures like George W. Bush, the American President, and Tony Blair, the British Prime Minister, when all were responsible for "the murder of hundreds of thousands in unjust wars" (Habib, 2015). The newspaper noted that this was a view shared by many African leaders and framed the ICC as a flawed institution (Habib, 2015). Although there was frustration and calls to withdraw from the Court, the newspaper still called for continued participation in the ICC in order to push for reform from the inside and "to challenge global power relations" (Habib, 2015).

Finally, the newspaper discussed the arguments surrounding the debates regarding withdrawal from the ICC. Ultimately the articles portrayed the discussion regarding withdrawal as detrimental to South Africa's moral authority stating that "withdrawal will weaken SA's global clout" and hurt its reputation as a "human rights leader in the region" (Swart, 2015). Fatou Bensouda, the sitting prosecutor of the ICC, wrote that the "ICC is not a panacea...but it recognizes victims when no other court will", emphasizing the importance of remaining a member of the Court rather than withdrawing (Bensouda, 2015).

Causal Interpretation: The *Sunday Times* suggests that the problems facing the ICC can be attributed to a combination of domestic, regional, and international issues. Domestically, South Africa defied the order of the High Court to arrest Bashir, which was in direct violation of its constitution. This indicates that the South African government was willing to ignore the law in order to put political interests first (Tlhabi, 2015). The fallout following this action ultimately led to the government's attempted withdrawal from the Court. Regionally, the African Union pressured South Africa and other AU member states to not comply with the ICC arrest warrant, warning that compliance could jeopardize economic and diplomatic relationships across the continent ("Quitting ICC Would Betray", 2015). Finally, on the international level the continued criticism of the ICC's application of selective justice put South Africa in a difficult position. The Court's unwillingness or inability to investigate figures like Bush and Blair, while issuing arrest warrants for African leaders like Bashir came to be viewed as more evidence of the Court's bias, fueled calls for African states to withdraw (Habib, 2015).

Moral Evaluation: The *Sunday Times* framed the ICC as an institution that was important in ending impunity, but one that was quickly losing credibility, but one that was still valuable as it is "the only avenue through which [victims] can get justice" ("Quitting ICC Would Betray", 2015). However, the newspaper continued to raise concerns about the Court's failure to investigate powerful Western leaders (Habib, 2015). Furthermore, the *Sunday Times* criticized the government of South Africa for openly defying a court order, noting that by doing so it had betrayed the country's legacy as a defender of human rights (Tlhabi, 2015). Overall, both South Africa and the ICC were criticized for their lack of moral credibility as they failed to uphold their own principles.

Treatment Recommendation: The solution proposed by the *Sunday Times* was to remain part of the ICC in order to push for reform from within. Rather than withdraw from the Court, South Africa should recommit itself to the principles of the Rome Statute, noting that withdrawal would constitute a betrayal of a "proud tradition" of supporting human rights ("Quitting ICC Would Betray", 2015). Furthermore, the newspaper called on the Court to begin investigating powerful Western actors and to open investigations in other parts of the world besides the African continent to combat the perception that it is a biased court and to fix its legitimacy problem (Habib, 2015). As an early supporter of the ICC, the newspaper argued that South Africa should take the lead in seeking reform and in the meantime should rededicate itself to upholding the rule of law at home.

6.3.2 The Mail & Guardian

Problem Definition: Crisis in South Africa, Selective Justice, and Credibility of the ICC

Between 2014 and 2019, the *Mail & Guardian* identified three overarching problems throughout its coverage of the ICC: the crisis in South Africa to balance its domestic, regional, and international obligations, perceptions of selective justice by the ICC, and the loss of credibility of the ICC. Similar to the problem identified in the *Sunday Times*, the *Mail & Guardian* noted that South Africa was struggling to balance its obligations to the ICC with its domestic and regional obligations. The newspaper noted that although South Africa was obligated to arrest Bashir upon his arrival to the country, had they done so, it "would have isolated South Africa from the rest of the continent" ("SA's Foreign Policy Walks a Fine Line", 2015). Echoing this sentiment, it was emphasized that the ICC was "aware that South Africa may have difficulties in executing the warrant" and executing the warrant would result in a "breach [of] its existing treaty obligations with the AU" (Gqirana, 2015). Following the Bashir Incident, the South African government found itself torn between its obligations to the ICC, its Constitution, and the AU.

The second problem identified by the *Mail & Guardian* was the continued perception that the ICC was biased and applied justice selectively. The newspaper argued that the Court was targeting African leaders and avoiding accountability for more powerful states, like the US, noting that "to date [the Court] has only one open investigation outside Africa – the probe in Georgia (Bluen, 2017). Meanwhile, another article indicated that the ICC was applying "double standards" to different countries, fueling calls for non-cooperation and withdrawal by the AU (Molewa, 2016).

Finally, the *Mail & Guardian* identified questions regarding the credibility of the ICC based on its effectiveness. The newspaper noted that since the creation of the Court twenty years prior, "only three individuals have been convicted", which raised concerns of whether the Court was truly able to provide justice for victims (Moffett, 2019). Not only were African states raising concerns over the effectiveness of the Court, but the United Kingdom also questioned whether it was worth "all the money being spent on it" if the ICC was unable to bring perpetrators to justice (Moffett, 2019). These concerns were eroding the credibility of the ICC and its ability to bring an end to impunity.

Causal Interpretation: The *Mail & Guardian* suggests that the problems facing the ICC can be attributed to political pressure, the influence of powerful states, and problems within the Court. South Africa was torn between its obligations to the ICC and to the AU, which contributed to its decision to allow Bashir to leave the country in defiance of the ICC arrest warrant and led to its ultimate decision to withdraw from the ICC (Gqirana, 2015). Furthermore, the perception of the ICC as a biased institution was made worse by the impression that powerful non-signatory states, like the sitting members of the UNSC, which refers cases to the ICC, were manipulating the Court while refusing "to submit themselves to the ICC" ("SA's Foreign Policy Walks a Fine Line", 2015). Finally, the fact that the Court was unable to secure meaningful convictions and had dismissed several high-profile cases, including the Kenya investigation, led to concerns about its credibility (Moffett, 2019).

Moral Evaluation: The Mail & Guardian framed the ICC as an institution that was well intentioned, but one that had lost credibility across the African continent. This loss of credibility was due to the continued perception that the Court was biased and was not successfully bringing an end to impunity (Moffett, 2019). The newspaper did not call for withdrawal from the ICC, but did acknowledge that the Court had "compromised itself" by allowing external actors, like the UNSC, to act as "judge, jury, and executioner" (Molewa, 2016). The Court's credibility was further impacted by its failed prosecutions, particularly the cases in Kenya and Côte d'Ivoire, which

resulted in dismissal and acquittal respectively (Moffett, 2019). Both cases resulted in a loss of credibility for the Court and impacted its perception across the African continent.

Treatment Recommendation: The solution proposed by the Mail & Guardian was to remain part of the ICC in order to push for reform from within, which is similar to the proposed treatment by the Sunday Times. Throughout the articles in the Mail & Guardian, South Africa was called upon to continue its support and advocacy of the Court as one of the initial supporters of the institution (Keppler, 2019; Bluen; 2017). The newspaper acknowledged that the grievances of African states with the Court were legitimate, particularly the perception of selective justice and the influence of non-signatory states on the institution; it stressed that withdrawing from the Court could lead to detrimental consequences for victims (Keppler, 2019). By remaining a committed member of the ICC, South Africa could signal to the world that it was committed to maintaining its global identity as a human rights defender and fight to hold all perpetrators accountable, not just those from weaker states (Keppler, 2019). Furthermore, the newspaper argued that the AU should continue to strive towards strengthening African mechanisms of justice, such as the African Court on Human and Peoples' Rights, in order to ensure accountability for perpetrators and justice for victims ("ICC Ruling is an Opening", 2017). Ultimately, the Mail & Guardian argued that the ICC is still a valuable institution, and that South Africa should focus on making reforms from within, rather than withdrawing.

6.3.3 Synthesis

Between 2014 and 2019, the *Sunday Times* and *Mail & Guardian* shifted its framing of the ICC from an invaluable institution for ending impunity to an institution in crisis. Both newspapers acknowledged that the legitimacy of the ICC was being challenged. From a constructivist perspective, the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian* noted that the perception of states directly impacts the authority of the ICC as it relies on member states to enforce arrest warrants and to collaborate in the investigations. By allowing Bashir to leave the country, South Africa directly impacted the authority and legitimacy of the ICC, even though it was attempting to balance its own domestic, regional, and international obligations. Both the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian* highlighted this balancing act, although the *Sunday Times* emphasized that South Africa risked losing its moral authority by not arresting Bashir.

Using legitimacy theory, both newspapers noted that the legitimacy of the ICC was being damaged by its failure to investigate atrocities outside of Africa. The focus on Africa fed into the perception that the Court was yet another example of a neo-colonial global institution, which was emphasized by both the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian*. These two newspapers framed

the ICC as a compromised institution and although it was a well-intentioned one, it was at risk of losing its legitimacy if reforms were not instituted immediately. However, they advocated for these reforms to be led by countries like South Africa from within the ICC rather than through withdrawal.

6.4 2020-2025: Continuing Crisis and Cautious Re-engagement

Following South Africa's attempt to withdraw from the ICC and the ensuing domestic crisis, South Africa entered a new period of engagement with the ICC. This period³ was marked by growing uncertainty of South Africa's role on the international stage as it strengthened its relationship with BRICS and it tentatively re-engaged with the Court ("South Africa Moves to Quit ICC over Putin", 2023). Additionally, in February 2018, Cyril Ramaphosa took on the role of President of South Africa, who began calling for government accountability and credibility ("MPs Elect Cyril Ramaphosa", 2018). Although South Africa had rescinded its intent to withdraw from the ICC in 2017, the relationship remained uncertain and it began to reconsider withdrawal following the ICC's issuance of an arrest warrant for Vladimir Putin over war crimes in Ukraine in 2023 ("South Africa moves to quit ICC", 2023). Reconsideration of withdrawal came to a head when rumors began to circulate that Putin would attend the BRICS Summit to be held in South Africa in 2023, as South Africa would be faced with the obligation to execute the arrest warrant and take Putin into custody (Imray and Magome, 2023). Ultimately, Putin sent his Foreign Minister, Sergey Lavrov, in his place and attended the Summit virtually, allowing South Africa to avoid another crisis (Imray and Magome, 2023). As a sign of re-engagement with the ICC, in November 2023, South Africa joined a group of like-minded states in submitting a referral to the ICC under Article 14 of the Rome Statute regarding the Palestinian situation ("South Africa, along with Like-Minded States, 2023).

The Sunday Times and the Mail & Guardian framed the ICC in South Africa during the period 2020-2025 as an institution that was flawed and in urgent need of reform. South Africa's role as a member of the ICC and the BRICS alliance came into focus as the ICC issued an arrest warrant for Russian President Vladimir Putin, as the country found its obligations in conflict once again. The Sunday Times emphasized the potential risks of non-compliance with another ICC warrant to the Court and to the reputation of South Africa as a defender of human rights. Meanwhile, the Mail & Guardian focused on the legal and diplomatic implications of non-compliance, specifically targeting Articles 27 and 98 of the Rome Statute. Both newspapers continued to

Court at the time of the writing in May 2025. This is subject to have changed due to new events.

48

³ The situation surrounding this period is ongoing and therefore still unfolding. This section represents a study of the language used by the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian* to interpret current sentiments and legitimacy of the

criticize the ICC for perceptions of selective justice. Ultimately, during the 2020-2025 period the ICC was framed as an institution in crisis, but one that could be saved through reform. The following section analyzes first the *Sunday Times* articles and then the *Mail & Guardian* articles with the framing of the ICC in South Africa using Entman's four components.

6.4.1 The Sunday Times

Problem Definition: South African Crisis, Selective Justice, and Shifts in Global Alliances

Between 2020 and 2025, the Sunday Times identified three overarching problems throughout its coverage of the ICC: the crisis in South Africa to balance its domestic, regional, and international obligations, perceptions of selective justice by the ICC, and a crisis of commitment to new global alliances. Similar to the problems identified in the period of 2014 to 2019, the Sunday Times noted that South Africa was faced with a dilemma of choosing between its constitutional, regional, and international obligations. Following the Bashir incident in 2015, the ruling party in South Africa, the ANC, was divided, but by 2020 the party was reconsidering its withdrawal from the ICC. This reconsideration was due to the fact that other African states had already abandoned their own attempts at withdrawal due to changes in the "political climate", leaving South Africa "isolated" (Cele, 2020). Although there were members of the party that were adamant that withdrawal "remained the decision of the party", President Ramaphosa called for a "strategic retreat" in order to balance relationships within the region (Cele, 2020; "Ace vs. Cyril", 2020). Additionally, South Africa was attempting to address other international matters, such as the Palestinian case against Israel, which required its support of the ICC ("Ace vs. Cyril", 2020). In addition to this change in policy, South Africa, as a member of BRICS, was once again faced with the crisis of having to choose between its obligations to the ICC and its Constitution and its international obligations as the Court issued an arrest warrant for Russian President, Vladimir Putin, over actions taken in Ukraine (Matiwane, 2023). The arrest warrant, once again, placed South Africa in the position of having to choose between its domestic, regional, and international obligations.

The second problem highlighted by the *Sunday Times* was the continued perception that the ICC was biased and applied justice selectively. The Court was criticized for disproportionately targeting African leaders while ignoring atrocities committed by powerful Western states. One article noted that, "All 52 indictments in 18 years have been against Africans," while the US escaped accountability for torture in Afghanistan, the investigation into Israel had stalled, and the US threatened sanctions against countries that continued to support the ICC (Motala, 2023). This reinforced the belief that the ICC was focused on maintaining the "status quo" and allowing Western powers to go unpunished (Motala, 2023). The ICC's actions were even described as a form of "deja vu" for African states as the Court's behavior was compared to that of colonial

powers prior to independence (Motala, 2023). As a result, the legitimacy of the ICC continued to be questioned

Finally, the *Sunday Times*, highlighted the growing pressure South Africa was facing as a result of its membership in the BRICS alliance. Upon the issuance of the arrest warrant for Putin, a founding member of BRICS, South Africa was once again caught between conflicting obligations ("South Africa must always choose", 2023). With the 2023 BRICS Summit scheduled to be held in South Africa, debates over whether the country would enforce the warrant against Putin or choose to repeat its earlier actions, as it had with Bashir, intensified (Mazibuko, 2023). The *Sunday Times* warned that the country risked its reputation as a defender of human rights if it chose to ignore the ICC again (Mazibuko, 2023). South Africa was once again forced to choose between honoring its obligations to the ICC or to put its own strategic interests first.

Causal Interpretation: The Sunday Times suggests that the problems facing South Africa, and the ICC were caused by domestic political division, problems within the Court, and pressure from global alliances. The division within the ANC over whether to continue pursuing a policy of withdrawal from the Court led to confusion over South Africa 's stance on the ICC (Cele, 2020). Meanwhile, the legitimacy of the Court continued to weaken as Western countries and their allies, such as Israel, continued to evade punishment (Motala, 2023). Additionally, South Africa's alignment with BRICS countries was growing, forcing it to choose between its own interests and its obligations to the ICC (Mazibuko, 2023).

Moral Evaluation: The *Sunday Times* framed the ICC as a flawed institution that has often been guilty of selective justice and bias in its prosecutions (Motala, 2023). However, the newspaper argued that withdrawing from the Court would be a mistake and that South Africa would fare better if it worked from within to institute reforms. Otherwise, it risked damaging its own credibility as a defender of human rights ("South Africa must always choose", 2023). Additionally, the *Sunday Times* criticized South Africa for appearing to place its own strategic interests ahead of its obligations to the Court, particularly in its hesitancy to enforce the ICC's arrest warrant for Putin (Dlamini, 2023; Mazibuko, 2023).

Treatment Recommendation: The solution proposed by the *Sunday Times* was that South Africa should remain a signatory member of the ICC and push for reform from within the institution ("South Africa must always choose", 2023). The newspaper encouraged South Africa to "rebuild and nurture ties to human rights champions" and to preserve its identity as a defender of human rights (Mazibuko, 2023). Additionally, South Africa's president was called upon to clearly define its foreign policy to avoid crises, such as the Bashir incident (Mazibuko, 2023).

6.4.2 The Mail & Guardian

Problem Definition: Legitimacy Crisis of the ICC, South African Diplomacy, and Inconsistency in South Africa

Between 2020 and 2025, the Mail & Guardian identified three overarching problems throughout its coverage of the ICC: The perception of bias in the ICC and the negative impact on its legitimacy, the difficulties facing South Africa as it attempted to balance diplomatic relations, and inconsistency in South Africa's relationship with the ICC. The Mail & Guardian noted continuing concerns about the perceived bias of the ICC against weaker states. The newspaper indicated that the ICC had an opportunity to address these concerns in the case of alleged war crimes in Gaza and show the world that they are an "objective organisation" by issuing arrest warrants for those responsible (Tandwa, 2023). Additionally, the newspaper highlighted the differences in how the ICC handled the investigations in Ukraine versus in Palestine (Seria, 2022). Seria noted that the ICC took swift action following the accession of Ukraine to the Court's jurisdiction, yet countries had long been calling for action in the case of Palestine, which had become a signatory to the Rome Statute in 2015, with no action (Seria, 2022). The newspaper also noted the reluctance of the ICC to challenge powerful states, like the US, as they implemented sanctions on members of the Court in an effort to protect their allies and themselves from investigations ("International Justice", Kisla, 2025). The Mail & Guardian's coverage indicated that the Court was continuing to suffer from perceived bias, which negatively impacted its legitimacy.

The second problem highlighted by the *Mail & Guardian* was the difficulty faced by South Africa in balancing its diplomatic relationships. As a member of the BRICS alliance and the ICC, South Africa found itself in a position of having to balance its obligations to both institutions. The newspaper noted that this balancing act came to a head when the ICC issued an arrest warrant for Putin in 2023, the President of Russia and founding member of BRICS, which raised questions over whether South Africa would uphold its obligations to the Court or protect its relationship with Russia and thereby with the BRICS alliance (Thompson, 2023). The newspaper also pointed out Article 98 of the Rome Statute, which deals with "non-surrender agreements and competing immunity obligations" ("South Africa and the ICC's Relationship", Kisla, 2023). The newspaper noted that there was an opportunity for South Africa to invoke Article 98 to prevent the ICC from demanding the arrest of Putin, should he enter the country, to protect South Africa from breaking its obligations under international law in arresting a sitting head of state ("South Africa and the ICC's Relationship", Kisla, 2023). However, the newspaper also noted that pursuant to Article 27 of the Rome Statute, the Court does not recognize immunity, even for sitting heads of state

("South Africa and the ICC's Relationship", Kisla, 2023). As South Africa dealt with how to handle its international and diplomatic obligations, it welcomed the decision by ICC prosecutors to seek arrest warrants in the Israeli-Palestinian case (Ferreira, 2023).

The *Mail & Guardian* also noted the inconsistency in South Africa's stance towards the ICC during this time period. Following the Bashir incident, South Africa had initiated the withdrawal process and then reversed this decision. In 2023, the ANC again announced intentions to withdraw from the ICC, which were quickly walked back (Matambo, 2023). The newspaper noted that the party's "confusion" undermined not only the legitimacy of the ICC, but also the legitimacy of South Africa on the international stage (Matambo, 2023).

Causal Interpretation: The Mail & Guardian suggests that the problems facing South Africa, and the ICC were caused by political tensions, legal questions, and inconsistency from leadership in South Africa. As the ICC quickly moved to investigate alleged crimes in Ukraine, but delayed action in the Palestinian case, it perpetuated the perception that the Court was biased (Seria, 2022; Tandwa, 2023). This led to officials in South Africa to question whether it should remain a member of the ICC (Kasrils, 2025; "South Africa and the ICC's Relationship", Kisla 2023). Additionally, South Africa's position in the BRICS alliance, which includes countries like Russia, complicated its position on the international stage, particularly as the ICC issued an arrest warrant for Putin (Thompson, 2023). South Africa found itself in the position of having to choose which obligations it would uphold (Thompson, 2023). Conflicting articles in the Rome Statute, particularly Article 27 and Article 98, further complicated the position of South Africa ("South Africa and the ICC's Relationship", Kisla, 2023). Furthermore, South Africa's position weakened as the ruling party, the ANC, continued to present mixed messaging regarding withdrawal from the ICC (Matambo, 2023). These issues led to uncertainty in South Africa and its engagement with the ICC.

Moral Evaluation: The Mail & Guardian framed the ICC as a compromised institution and criticized the ICC for its inconsistency, particularly as it relates to the cases in Ukraine and Palestine ("South Africa and the ICC's Relationship", Kisla, 2023). The Court's initial inaction in the case of Palestine and expedited process in Ukraine reinforced the perception that the ICC is a biased institution and that the Court will only act when selective political criteria is met, further damaging the legitimacy of the Court (Seria, 2022; Tandwa, 2023). Furthermore, South Africa's repeated threats of withdrawal from the Court were criticized as damaging not only the legitimacy of the Court, but also South Africa's reputation on the global stage (Matambo, 2023; "South Africa and the ICC's Relationship", Kisla, 2023). However, the newspaper did applaud South Africa's

support for ICC action against Israeli and Hamas leadership as it referred the Palestinian case to the Court (Ferreira, 2024; Kasrils, 2025).

Treatment Recommendation: The solution proposed by the *Mail & Guardian* was that South Africa should remain a member of the ICC and seek to reform the Court from within (Seria, 2022; Tandwa, 2023). South Africa's support and referral for the Palestinian case were noted as steps towards the type of reform necessary for improving the legitimacy of the Court (Ferriera, 2024; Kasrils, 2025). Furthermore, the newspaper called for South Africa to build alliances with likeminded countries that position themselves as defenders of human rights, particularly in the Global South (Kisla, 2025).

6.4.3 Synthesis

Between 2020 and 2025, the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian* continued to frame the ICC as an institution in crisis, noting that its legitimacy was at risk. Both newspapers pointed out the perception of selective justice and the increasing tensions between South Africa's obligations. Using constructivism theory, the *Sunday Times* and *Mail & Guardian* highlighted that the legitimacy of the Court depended upon how the ICC is perceived by the states and how states respond to the Court. As the ICC issued an arrest warrant for Vladimir Putin, it was clear that South Africa's hesitancy to enforce the order represented a threat to the legitimacy of the Court.

Using legitimacy theory, the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian* noted that the legitimacy of the ICC was damaged by the ongoing perception that the Court was biased and applied justice selectively. The Court's quick action in the Ukrainian case and its hesitancy to act in the Palestinian case, reinforced this perception. Furthermore, the newspapers emphasized that the Court was functioning as a neo-colonial tool, noting that the majority of indictments from the ICC had targeted Africans, while countries like the US and Israel escaped justice. Ultimately, the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian* framed the ICC as a compromised institution, but one that could be reformed if states were willing to work from within, rather than withdrawing.

6.5 Summary of Findings

The framing of the ICC in South African media, particularly by the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian*, changed significantly during the period of 2002 to 2025. In the beginning of this period, the early 2000s, both newspapers presented the ICC as a credible institution that was necessary for ending impunity. These newspapers highlighted that the creation of the Court represented a positive change for South Africa following its history of apartheid and that the Court provided South Africa with an opportunity to identify itself as a defender of human rights on the global stage. This framing of the ICC by South African media in an overall supportive light indicates that

the Court was perceived to be legitimate. Understood through legitimacy theory, this means that the ICC's authority depended on the belief that it acted fairly and consistently, which in its infancy as an institution was overall intact. During this initial time period, the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian* portrayed the ICC as an institution through which South Africa could reinforce its identity as a defender of human rights and increase its credibility on the global stage.

However, this framing began to shift, especially after 2008, as the ICC began to focus more of its investigations into African countries. Both newspapers began to raise questions about whether the ICC was applying justice fairly and noted that it appeared unwilling to investigate powerful Western nations like the US. Through a neo-colonial lens, the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian* pointed out that the Court appeared to disproportionately target African states, while powerful countries, like the US, were allowed to evade justice. This criticism led to the growing perception that the Court was repeating and reinforcing colonial patterns. From a constructivist perspective, the legitimacy of the ICC is socially constructed and as perceptions of selective justice grew, South African media began to reflect growing tensions between the Court's actions and the expectations of its member states.

During the 2014 to 2019 period, the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian* began to frame the ICC as an institution in crisis, but one that was still valuable. However, there was a significant shift in the framing of the ICC in South Africa in 2015, when South Africa did not comply with the ICC arrest warrant for Sudanese President Omar al-Bashir. South Africa's non-compliance with the arrest warrant pointed to tensions between South Africa's constitutional obligations, its commitment to the ICC, and its relationship with the AU. Not only was the legitimacy of the ICC called into question, but also the legitimacy of South Africa as a defender of human rights. From a constructivist perspective, this was a turning point as South Africa's decision to not enforce the arrest warrant directly shaped the perception of the ICC's legitimacy, particularly as the Court relies on state cooperation. The two newspapers continued to indicate during this time period that the Court was a valuable institution, but one in need of significant reform.

Similarly, in the period of 2020 to 2025³, the newspapers portrayed the Court as an institution in crisis but also focused on how South Africa's legitimacy was in crisis as it showed a lack of consistency in its relationship with the ICC, particularly regarding the arrest warrant for Russian President Vladimir Putin. As South Africa aligned itself with BRICS, it was once again caught between its obligations to the ICC and its obligations as a BRICS member. Uncertainty surrounding South Africa's compliance with the ICC arrest warrant indicated once again that the legitimacy of the ICC is constructed by the actions of its member states.

Ultimately, across all four periods, the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian* framed the ICC as a flawed institution, but one that was still necessary for international justice. Both newspapers noted that perceptions of bias and selective justice were damaging to the legitimacy of the Court but emphasized that this loss of legitimacy could be recovered through reform, especially if member states like South Africa stay engaged.

7. Conclusion

This research study sought to answer the following question: How is the legitimacy of the ICC created and challenged in South African media over time? To answer this question, the research focused on two of the most influential and long-standing newspapers, the Sunday Times and the Mail & Guardian, and analyzed articles across four six-year periods. Using constructivism alongside legitimacy theory and neo-colonialism as a framework, this research highlighted that an institution is not automatically granted legitimacy merely because it exists. Rather, the legitimacy of the Court must be constructed over time and was greatly impacted by the historical context, political events, the ways in which states interacted with the ICC, and ultimately public perception.

Throughout the periods that were analyzed, South African media portrayed the ICC as a complex institution; one that was necessary to bring an end to impunity, but one that struggled with the consistent perception of bias and selective justice. In the first period, 2002-2007, the Court was presented as an important tool to promote justice and one that aligned with South Africa's post-apartheid identity as a defender of human rights. However, this framing changed as the ICC issued arrest warrants for African leaders and launched investigations into African states through referrals from the UNSC. The framing of the ICC in South African media truly shifted following the country's refusal to arrest Omar al-Bashir in 2015 with both newspapers portraying both the Court and South Africa in a state of crisis. Both countries were at risk of damaging their legitimacy on the international stage.

As the framing shifted from support to criticism, the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian* remained consistent in advocacy for reform of the Court. The newspapers posited that South Africa would be well positioned to push for change from within the Court, rather than withdrawing from the ICC. The newspapers also emphasized that the legitimacy of the ICC and of South Africa depended on consistent actions in the pursuit of justice, without political interference.

It's important to note that this study does have limits. By choosing to analyze only two newspapers, there is a risk that it missed other views, particularly from smaller media sources. Additionally, this study only analyzes news articles and does not necessarily include specific

government perspectives, which could have provided additional insight into how the media shaped the perception of the legitimacy of the ICC. Future research could expand on the findings in this research by comparing South Africa to other African states, such as Kenya, that have also had a tumultuous experience with the Court. Furthermore, the influence of social media on the perception of the ICC could be included in future research to expand the study.

This research showed that institutions, like the ICC, are not automatically granted legitimacy simply because they exist. Rather, legitimacy is something that is created and contested over time. Ultimately, the *Sunday Times* and the *Mail & Guardian* framed the Court as imperfect, but one that is essential to bringing an end to impunity.

8. Bibliography

"Ace vs Cyril on International Criminal Court." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 9 Aug. 2020. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Adjei, William Edward. "The Development of Individual Criminal Responsibility under International Law: Lessons from Nuremberg and Tokyo War Crimes Trials." Journal of Legal Studies, vol. 25, no. 39, 1 June 2020, pp. 69–97, https://doi.org/10.2478/jles-2020-0005.

Adler, Emanuel. "Seizing the Middle Ground: Constructivism in World Politics." European Journal of International Relations, vol. 3, no. 3, Sept. 1997, pp. 319–363.

"Africa Must Make Peace a Priority." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 15 June 2003, p. 18. Nexis Uni, Accessed 17 Apr. 2025.

"A Rare Chance to Shine." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 13 Mar. 2011. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Bachmann, Sascha-Dominick Dov, and Naa A Sowatey-Adjei. "The African Union-ICC Controversy before the ICJ: A Way Forward to Strengthen International Criminal Justice?" UW Law Digital Commons, 2020,

digitalcommons.law.uw.edu/wilj/vol29/iss2/3?utm_source=digitalcommons.law.uw.edu%2Fwilj%2Fvol29%2Fiss2%2F3&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages. Accessed 14 Apr. 2025.

Barron, Chris. "US Invasion of Iraq Puts International Law at Risk." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 30 Mar. 2003. Nexis Uni, Accessed 17 Apr. 2025.

Baylis, John, et al. The Globalization of World Politics: An Introduction to International Relations. 9th ed., Oxford University Press, 2023.

Bensouda, Fatou. "Africa Needs ICC to Safeguard Itself." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 22 Nov. 2015. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Bluen, Kelly-Jo. "Imperfect ICC Can Play a Critical Role." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 3 Feb. 2017. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Boehme, Franziska. ""We Chose Africa": South Africa and the Regional Politics of Cooperation with the International Criminal Court." International Journal of Transitional Justice, vol. 11, no. 1, 26 Dec. 2016, p. ijw024, https://doi.org/10.1093/ijtj/ijw024.

Buchanan, Allen, and Robert O. Keohane. "The Legitimacy of Global Governance Institutions." Ethics & International Affairs, vol. 20, no. 4, Dec. 2006, pp. 405–437, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-7093.2006.00043.x.

Cele, S'thembile. "ANC Backs Out of Court Move." Sunday Times (South Africa), 9 Aug. 2020. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Chirinda, Simplicius. "On a Crusade for Justice." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 4 Mar. 2012. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Cocks, Tim. "Peace Groups Balk at ICC Decision." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 6 Feb. 2004. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

"Court Criticised over "Al-Bashir" Judgment." de Rebus, August 2015:5 [2015] DEREBUS 124." Saflii.org, 2015, www.saflii.org/za/journals/DEREBUS/2015/124. Accessed 18 Feb. 2025.

"Cyril Ramaphosa - South African Union Leader, Mine Boss, President." BBC News, 24 May 2019, www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-20767093.

Dersso, Solomon. "South Africa's Future in the ICC Is Still Uncertain." Al Jazeera, 13 Mar. 2017, www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2017/3/13/south-africas-future-in-the-icc-is-still-uncertain. Accessed 17 Mar. 2025.

Dlamini, David. "SA's Cowardly 'Russian Romance' Won't End Well." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 2 Apr. 2023. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Dolin, Benjamin, et al. "The International Criminal Court: History and Role." Parliamentary Information, Education, and Research Services, Library of Parliament Hill Studies, 14 May 2002, lop.parl.ca/sites/PublicWebsite/default/en_CA/ResearchPublications/200211E. Accessed 21 Feb. 2025.

Donaldson, Andrew. "Law Report on Zimbabwe Slams Mbeki." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 2004. Nexis Uni, Accessed 17 Apr. 2025.

Donaldson, Andrew. "War on Terror Aids Repression." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 1 June 2003. Nexis Uni, Accessed 17 Apr. 2025.

du Plessis, Max. "SA Must Remain Uncowed before Goliath." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 6 July 2003. Nexis Uni, Accessed 17 Apr. 2025.

Ekwealor, Chinedu. "The African Union and the International Criminal Court: Lessons from Sudan for Africa." Journal of African Union Studies, vol. 7, no. 1, 13 Apr. 2018, pp. 31–48, https://doi.org/10.31920/2050-4306/2018/v7n1a2. Accessed 3 Oct. 2019.

Ellis, Mark. "Robert Mugabe Must Be Prosecuted – Now." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 25 Mar. 2007. Nexis Uni, Accessed 17 Apr. 2025.

Entman, Robert M. "Framing: Toward Clarification of a Fractured Paradigm." Journal of Communication, vol. 43, no. 4, 1 Dec. 1993, pp. 51–58, www.researchgate.net/profile/Robert-Entman/publication/209409849_Framing_Toward_Clarification_of_A_Fractured_Paradigm/links /64d62bf6d3e680065aae9c55/Framing-Toward-Clarification-of-A-Fractured-Paradigm.pdf.

Ferreira, Emsie. "Ramaphosa Welcomes ICC Seeking Arrest Warrants in Israeli-Palestinian War." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 21 May 2024. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Finnemore, Martha, and Kathryn Sikkink. "International Norm Dynamics and Political Change." International Organization, vol. 52, no. 4, 1998, pp. 887–917.

Finnemore, Martha, and Alexander Wendt. "When "Old" Constructivism Was New: Reflections on Classical Constructivism." Perspectives on Politics, vol. 22, no. 4, 1 Dec. 2024, pp. 1248–1268, https://doi.org/10.1017/s1537592724001464.

George, Alexander L., and Andrew Bennett. Case Studies and Theory Development in the Social Sciences. Cambridge, MIT Press, 2005.

Goffman, Erving. Frame Analysis: An Essay on the Organization of Experience. Boston Northeastern University Press, 1974.

"Goldstone Defends International Court." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 28 Sept. 2010. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

"Goldstone Defends International Court." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 28 Sept. 2010. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Gqirana, Thulani. "Radebe: We Have Challenges with the ICC." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 25 June 2015. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Grant, J. Andrew, and Spencer Hamilton. "Norm Dynamics and International Organisations: South Africa in the African Union and International Criminal Court." Commonwealth & Comparative Politics, vol. 54, no. 2, 18 Mar. 2016, pp. 161–185, https://doi.org/10.1080/14662043.2016.1151166. Accessed 7 May 2019.

Habib, Adam. "Bashir Should Be in the Dock—but So Should Bush and Blair." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 21 June 2015, p. 13. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Hancke, Hendrik. "Institute Warns of Broad US Sanctions." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 13 Apr. 2025. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Harper, Paddy. "Ignoring ICC Warrant Is Unconstitutional." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 12 July 2009. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Hoeane, Thabisi. "Don't Let the Complexities of the Past Tear Us Apart." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 26 Oct. 2003. Nexis Uni, Accessed 17 Apr. 2025.

Hurd, Ian. "Legitimacy and Authority in International Politics." International Organization, vol. 53, no. 2, 1999, pp. 379–408.

"ICC Accused of 'Exclusively' Targeting Africans." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 20 Apr. 2011. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

"ICC - Assembly of States Parties | International Criminal Court." Icc-Cpi.int, 2024, asp.icc-cpi.int/assembly. Accessed 21 Feb. 2025.

"ICC Ruling Is an Opening for SA to Embrace Global Justice." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 28 July 2017. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Imray, Gerald and Mogomotsi Magome. "Putin Remotely Attends BRICS Summit in South Africa While Facing War Crimes Warrant." PBS NewsHour, 22 Aug. 2023,

www.pbs.org/newshour/world/putin-remotely-attends-brics-summit-in-south-africa-while-facing-war-crimes-warrant.

International Criminal Court. "About the Court." International Criminal Court, International Criminal Court, 2024, www.icc-cpi.int/about/the-court. Accessed 17 Feb. 2025.

International Criminal Court Project. "Structure of the ICC." The ABA's ICC Project, 2 Dec. 2019, www.aba-icc.org/about-the-icc/structure-of-the-icc/.

International Criminal Court. Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court. 1998, www.icc-cpi.int/resource-library/documents/rs-eng.pdf. Accessed 1 May 2025.

Jalloh, Charles C. "The Relationship between Africa and the International Criminal Court." The Raoul Wallenberg Institute of Human Rights and Humanitarian Law, 5 Apr. 2019, rwi.lu.se/blog/relationship-between-africa-international-criminal-court/.

Jeangène Vilmer, Jean-Baptiste. "The African Union and the International Criminal Court: Counteracting the Crisis." Source: International Affairs (Royal Institute of International Affairs, vol. 92, no. 6, Nov. 2016, pp. 1319–1342. Accessed 17 Feb. 2025.

Jika, Thanduxolo, and Sibongakonke Shoba. "Bashir to Stay Away as SA Ducks Controversy." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 18 Oct. 2015. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Kasrils, Ronnie. "Urgent Need to Form a Global Bloc Against Genocide." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 17 Jan. 2025. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

"Kenya's Leaders Split with the ICC." Mail & Guardian (South Africa), 11 Nov. 2009. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Keppler, Elise. "South Africa and the ICC: It's Not Too Late to Change Course." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 10 Sept. 2018. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Kisla, Atilla. "International Justice: End or Emancipation?" *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 20 Feb. 2025. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Kisla, Atilla. "South Africa and the ICC's Relationship Is Complicated." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 16 May 2023. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Krieger, Joel. The Oxford Companion to International Relations. Vol. 1.: Afghanistan-Kosovo War. Oxford University Press, 2014.

Langan, Mark. Neo-Colonialism and the Poverty of "Development" in Africa. Cham Palgrave Macmillan, 2018.

Lasse Lindekilde. "Discourse and Frame Analysis." Oxford University Press EBooks, 25 Sept. 2014, pp. 195–227, https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198719571.003.0009. Accessed 23 Apr. 2023.

Lobe, Jim. "Activists Welcome ICC Summons on Darfur." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 28 Feb. 2007. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Magliveras, Konstantinos D. "The Withdrawal of African States from the ICC: Good, Bad or Irrelevant?" Netherlands International Law Review, vol. 66, no. 3, 5 Nov. 2019, pp. 419–439, link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40802-019-00145-3, https://doi.org/10.1007/s40802-019-00145-3. Accessed 14 Jan. 2020.

Magliveras, Konstantinos D., and Gino J Naldi. "The African Union—a New Dawn for Africa?" International and Comparative Law Quarterly, vol. 51, no. 2, Apr. 2002, pp. 415–425, https://doi.org/10.1093/iclq/51.2.415.

Maharaj, Mac. "One Formula Won't Fix Our Continent's Woes." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 19 July 2009. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Malone, Barry. "African Nations Divided over al-Bashir Genocide Charge." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 26 July 2010. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Mannak, Miriam. "Is the ICC Too Selective in Its Actions?" *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 21 Aug. 2008. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Maromo, Jonisayi. "Africa to Decide on Involvement in ICC." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 8 Oct. 2013. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Matambo, Emmanuel. "SA's Vacillations on Leaving the ICC Point to Larger Problems." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 4 May 2023. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Matiwane, Zimasa. "Cyril 'Must Make Putin Affidavit Public." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 9 July 2023. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Maziwuko, Lindiwe. "Beware of Building Brics with More Rights Violators." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 23 July 2023. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Mills, Kurt. ""Bashir Is Dividing Us": Africa and the International Criminal Court." Human Rights Quarterly, vol. 34, no. 2, 2012, pp. 404–447, https://doi.org/10.1353/hrq.2012.0030. Accessed 5 June 2019.

Moffett, Luke. "Victims Can't Rely on ICC for Justice." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 18 Jan. 2019. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Motala, Ziyad. "The ICC Flashpoint: Justice for Thee but Not for Me?" *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 7 May 2023. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

"MPs Elect Cyril Ramaphosa as New South Africa President." Al Jazeera, 15 Feb. 2018, www.aljazeera.com/news/2018/2/15/ancs-cyril-ramaphosa-elected-president-of-south-africa.

Munusamy, Ranjeni. "Haunted by the Apartheid Demons We Barely Confronted." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 8 Oct. 2017. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Murithi, Tim. "The African Union and the International Criminal Court: An Embattled Relationship?" Institute for Justice and Reconciliation, 1 Mar. 2013. Accessed 14 Apr. 2025.

Ngalwa, Sibusiso. "Africa Decides Not to Exit ICC." Sunday Times (South Africa), 13 Oct. 2013. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Ngalwa, Sibusiso. "SA Wants Plan to Fill ICC Vacuum If Africa Quits." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 6 Oct. 2013. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Nkrumah, Kwame. Neo-Colonialism: The Last Stage of Imperialism. London, Thomas Nelson & Sons Ltd., 1965.

"Office of the Prosecutor." Www.icc-Cpi.int, www.icc-cpi.int/about/otp. Accessed 21 Feb. 2025.

"Peace and Justice Go Together." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 4 Dec. 2008. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Pheko, Mohau. "It Seems the West's War-Crimes Tribunals Are Reserved for Africans." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 27 July 2008. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Plessis, Max Du. "Bringing the International Criminal Court Home - the Implementation of the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court Act 2002." South African Journal of Criminal Justice, vol. 16, no. 1, 1 Jan. 2003, pp. 1–16. Accessed 26 Feb. 2025.

Pugliese, Jessica, and John Mukum Mbaku. "Can the International Criminal Court and the African Union Repair Relations?" Brookings, 26 Dec. 2013, Accessed 8 Apr. 2025.

"Quitting ICC Would Betray a Proud Legacy." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 21 June 2015. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Ratshitanga, Mukoni. "Arrest Would Have Been a Disaster for Africa." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 21 June 2015. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

"Recent Cases and Developments: South Africa and the International Criminal Court: Comments." South African Journal of Criminal Justice, vol. 22, no. 3, 1 Jan. 2009, pp. 441–446. Accessed 26 Feb. 2025.

Res Schuerch. The International Criminal Court at the Mercy of Powerful States: An Assessment of the Neo-Colonialism Claim Made by African Stakeholders. The Hague, T.M.C. Asser Press, 2017.

Reuters Staff. "South Africa Lawmakers Reject Bid to Impeach Zuma over Bashir Saga." Reuters, 1 Sept. 2015, www.reuters.com/article/world/south-africa-lawmakers-reject-bid-to-impeach-zuma-over-bashir-saga-idUSKCN0R14G5/.

"Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court." International Criminal Court, 2024, www.icc-cpi.int/publications/core-legal-texts/rome-statute-international-criminal-court. Accessed 17 Feb. 2025.

Sapa AP. "ICC Urged to Change Africans' Perception of the Court." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 9 Dec. 2014. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Sarkin, Jeremy Julian. "Understanding South Africa's Changing Positions on International Criminal Justice: Why the Country Wanted to Withdraw from the International Criminal Court (ICC) and Why It May Remain in the ICC for the Time Being?1." Cadernos de Estudos Africanos, vol. 40, no. 40, 1 Dec. 2020, https://doi.org/10.4000/cea.5353.

"SA's Foreign Policy Walks a Fine Line." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 25 Sept. 2015. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

"Security Council Referral Confirms ICC as a Critical International Institution." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 2 Mar. 2011. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Seria, Shehnaz. "The ICC Should Speedily Investigate the Crime Against Humanity of Apartheid in Palestine." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 28 Mar. 2022. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Seria, Shenaz. "SA Jurisprudence Poorer as a Result of Easy Let-Off in Mark Thatcher Case." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 13 Feb. 2005. Nexis Uni, Accessed 17 Apr. 2025.

Sheikh, Fawzia. "Is the Road to Hell Paved with Good Intentions?" *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 29 Mar. 2005. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

"Situations under Investigation." International Criminal Court, 2024, www.icc-cpi.int/situations-under-investigations.

"South Africa, along with Like-Minded States, Submits Joint Referral of the Situation in Palestine to the ICC – DIRCO." Department of International Relations and Cooperation, 17 Nov. 2023, dirco.gov.za/south-africa-along-with-like-minded-states-submits-joint-referral-of-the-situation-in-palestine-to-the-icc/. Accessed 26 Feb. 2025.

"South Africa Blames Sudanese Officials for Bashir's Escape, Says ICC Withdrawal Considered." TCA Regional News, Tribune Content Agency LLC, 2015.

"South Africa | International Criminal Court." Asp.icc-Cpi.int, 11 Mar. 2003, asp.icc-cpi.int/states-parties/african-states/south-africa. Accessed 26 Feb. 2025.

"South Africa Moves to Quit ICC over Putin Arrest Warrant — Then Backs Down." POLITICO, 26 Apr. 2023, www.politico.eu/article/south-africa-cyril-ramaphosa-international-criminal-court-vladimir-putin-arrest-warrant/. Accessed 17 Mar. 2025.

"South Africa Must Always Choose What Suits Its Interests Best." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 23 July 2023. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Ssenyonjo, Manisuli. "State Withdrawal Notifications from the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court: South Africa, Burundi and the Gambia." Criminal Law Forum, vol. 29, no. 1, 13 June 2017, pp. 63–119, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10609-017-9321-z. Accessed 9 June 2019.

Staff Reporter. "Autumn of the Patriarch." The *Mail & Guardian*, 18 Dec. 2006, mg.co.za/article/2006-12-18-autumn-of-the-patriarch/. Accessed 1 May 2025.

Staff Reporter. "Court in Crisis over African Peace Search." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 9 Jan. 2007. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Staff Reporter. "Goldstone Slates US over Afghan 'Prisoners'." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 18 Jan. 2002. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Staff Reporter. "Is Amnesty a Viable Solution?" *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 23 Feb. 2003. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Staff Reporter. "Peace versus Justice." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 9 Oct. 2006. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Suchman, Mark C. "Managing Legitimacy: Strategic and Institutional Approaches." The Academy of Management Review, vol. 20, no. 3, 1995, pp. 571–610.

Swart, Mia. "Court Withdrawal Will Weaken SA's Global Clout." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 1 Nov. 2015. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Tandwa, Lizeka. "Pretoria Wants ICC to Act Against Israel by December or Risk Showing It Is Biased." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 20 Nov. 2023. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Thompson, Lisa. "Transformation of South Africa's Foreign Policy through Brics – Why Putin Tips the Scales." *Mail & Guardian* (South Africa), 6 Jul. 2023. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Tlhabi, Redi. "Bashir Affair Holds a Mirror Up to What We Have Become." *Sunday Times* (South Africa), 28 June 2015. Nexis Uni, Accessed 1 May 2025.

Uzoigwe, Godfrey N. "Neocolonialism Is Dead: Long Live Neocolonialism." Journal of Global South Studies, vol. 36, no. 1, 2019, pp. 59–87.

van den Burg, Stephanie. "What Is the International Criminal Court?" Reuters, 27 Nov. 2024, www.reuters.com/world/what-is-international-criminal-court-2024-11-27/.

Wendt, Alexander. "Anarchy Is What States Make of It: The Social Construction of Power Politics." International Organization, vol. 46, no. 2, 1992, pp. 391–425.

Werle, Gerhard, and Andreas Zimmermann. The International Criminal Court in Turbulent Times. Vol. 23, Springer, 29 June 2019, pp. 23–42